

LUND UNIVERSITY

On Brain Oedema

Jungner, Mårten

2012

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA): Jungner, M. (2012). On Brain Oedéma. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Anesthesiology and Intensive Care]. Lund University: Faculty of Medicine.

Total number of authors:

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

- or research.
- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

ON BRAIN OEDEMA

Mårten Jungner



LUND UNIVERSITY Faculty of Medicine

2012

ISBN 1652-8220 ISSN 978-91-86871-81-9 Copyright © Mårten Jungner Department of Clinical Sciences Anaesthesiology and Intensive Care Faculty of Medicine Lund University Contusione cerebri aut meningitides laboranti liquor in sanguinem infendatur. Albumin convenit dare, at sal non adhibendus, cum oedema cerebri augere possit. Hoc experimentis in mure et fele ostendimus; quod autem iam sciebat Per-Olof Grände.

To the memory of Jan Holst (1946 – 2006)

Table of contents

| Table of contents | 4 |
|---|----|
| List of papers | 6 |
| Abbreviations | 7 |
| Background | 8 |
| Traumatic brain injury | 8 |
| Meningitis | 9 |
| Microcirculation | 10 |
| Fluid therapy | 16 |
| Volume regulation of the brain | 17 |
| Aims of the studies | 19 |
| Material and methods | 20 |
| Ethics | 20 |
| Anaesthesia and surgical preparation | 20 |
| Trauma model (I and IV) | 21 |
| Meningitis model (II and III) | 23 |
| Motor function (I) | 23 |
| Microdialysis and intracranial pressure registration (II and III) | 23 |
| Cerebral blood flow (IV and V) | 24 |
| Number of perfused capillaries (IV) | 25 |
| Blood-brain barrier permeability (I, IV and V) | 25 |
| Blood chemistry (I–IV) | 27 |
| Cortical water content (I and IV) | 27 |
| Plasma volume (I–III) | 28 |
| NO and prostacyclin (IV) | 28 |
| Fluids (I and II) | 28 |

| Experimental protocols | 29 |
|---|----|
| Study I – Fluid resuscitation in rat brain trauma and haemorrhage | 29 |
| Study II – Fluid resuscitation in cat meningitis | 29 |
| Study III – Prostacyclin in cat meningitis | 29 |
| Study IV – Statin treatment in rat brain trauma | 30 |
| Study V – Blood-brain barrier permeability in human brain trauma | 30 |
| Main results | 31 |
| Study I – Fluid resuscitation in rat brain trauma and haemorrhage | 31 |
| Study II – Fluid resuscitation in cat meningitis | 32 |
| Study III – Prostacyclin in cat meningitis | 33 |
| Study IV – Statin treatment in rat brain trauma | 34 |
| Study V – Blood-brain barrier permeability in human brain trauma | 35 |
| Discussion | 37 |
| Models of disease | 37 |
| Fluid management (paper I and II) | 38 |
| Cerebrovascular protection (paper III and IV) | 41 |
| Conclusions | 44 |
| Acknowledgements and grants | |
| References4 | |
| Appendix | 59 |
| | |

List of papers

This thesis is based on the following original papers, referred to in the text by their Roman numerals.

- I Jungner M, Grände P-O, Mattiasson G, and Bentzer P. (2010). Effects on brain edema of crystalloid and albumin fluid resuscitation after brain trauma and hemorrhage in the rat *Anesthesiology* 112, 1194–1203.
- **II** Jungner M, Bentzer P, and Grände P-O. (2011). Intracranial pressure following resuscitation with albumin or saline in a cat model of meningitis. *Crit Care Med* 39, 135–140.
- **III** Jungner M, Bentzer P, and Grände P-O. (2009). Prostacyclin reduces elevation of intracranial pressure and plasma volume loss in lipopolysaccharide-induced meningitis in the cat. *J Trauma* 67, 1345–1351.
- **IV** Jungner M, Lundblad C, and Bentzer P (2012). Cortical capillary recruitment by rosuvastatin in experimental brain trauma is associated with increased NO production. *Submitted*.
- V Jungner M, Siemund R, Venturoli D, Reinstrup P, Schalén W, Grände P-O, and Bentzer P (2012). Blood-brain barrier permeability following traumatic brain injury. *In manuscript*.

Abbreviations

| ANOVA | analysis of variance |
|------------------|--|
| BBB | blood-brain barrier |
| cAMP | cyclic adenosine monophosphate |
| CBF | cerebral blood flow |
| cGMP | cyclic guanosine monophosphate |
| COP, POP | colloid osmotic pressure = plasma oncotic pressure |
| CVP | central venous pressure |
| eNOS | endothelial nitric oxide synthase |
| hct | haematocrit |
| ICP | intracranial pressure |
| LPS | lipopolysaccharide |
| MAP | mean arterial pressure |
| NO | nitric oxide |
| PGI ₂ | prostacyclin |
| PS | permeability surface area product |
| PV | plasma volume |
| SD | standard deviation |
| TBI | traumatic brain injury |

Background

Traumatic brain injury

Brain trauma is a major health problem worldwide, with an estimated 10 million people affected each year. Of those 1.5 million die, and among the survivors long-term disability is common, making the cost, apart from personal tragedy, in terms of healthcare and lost productivity a burden to society. (Hyder et al., 2007). Three age related peaks are present in most epidemiologic studies: in early childhood, in young adults, and in the elderly, with a male predominance especially in young adults. In childhood and senescence falls are the major cause of traumatic brain injury (TBI), whereas motor vehicle accidents account for 40–60 % all cases. The portion of trauma from violence varies widely with demography. (Bruns and Hauser, 2003, Steyerberg et al., 2008).

The mechanical primary insult will cause irreversible neuronal injury to some extent, and only preventive measures to reduce trauma incidence and severity can influence the magnitude of this damage. Medical care of brain trauma patients is directed at preventing secondary injuries to potentially salvageable cells. The pathophysiology involved in delayed cell death is complex, and include neurotoxicity from increased glutamate levels, reactive oxygen species, excessive inflammatory response, and mitochondrial dysfunction (Werner and Engelhard, 2007, Helmy et al., 2011, Fiskum, 2000). Attempts have been made to target specific cellular mechanisms with a multitude of agents, showing promise in animal studies, but have so far failed to improve outcome in clinical practice (Tolias and Bullock, 2004; Faden, 2001; Loane and Faden, 2010).

Increased intracranial pressure is devastating to the injured brain, as it will affect cerebral perfusion and oxygenation (Miller et al., 1977; Unterberg et al., 2004). Urgent surgery may be required to evacuate haematomas and contusions, whereas diffuse brain swelling is mainly treated pharmacologically. Circulatory chock, from extracranial bleeding or systemic inflammation, will further impair blood supply to the brain, and aggressive fluid resuscitation is often needed. Microvascular dysfunction after brain trauma involves vasoconstriction, adhesion and aggregation of leukocytes and platets and microvascular occlusion, further impeding nutrient flow (Hekmatpanah and Hekmatpanah, 1985; Lu et al., 2004; Lundblad et al., 2004; Robertson et al., 2011; Shohami et al., 1987). At present, prevention and treatment of ischaemia, hypoxia, and intracranial hypertension

remain the cornerstone of supportive care after brain trauma (Miller, 1978; Chestnut et al., 1993; Clifton et al, 2002, Cunningham et al., 2005).

Meningitis

Bacterial meningitis is a life threatening condition, and in the pre-antibiotic era mortality was 70–100%, depending on organism (Swartz, 2004). In the early 1900s, dramatic effects on survival in meningococcal meningitis were seen after the introduction of anti-serum from horses (Flexner, 1913), and further advances were made when antibiotics became widely available (Swartz, 2004). Still, with modern therapy, overall mortality in patients in Western countries is 5-10% in Neisseria meningitidis and Haemophilus influenzae, and 20–30% in Streptococcus pneumoniae meningitis (van de Beek et al., 2004; Swartz, 2004), and up to half of the survivors suffer various degrees of neurological sequelae (Grimwood et al., 2000). Since the introduction of vaccines against pneumococci and capsulated Haemophilus strains, the incidence of bacterial meningitis has declined, and further effects of preventions are anticipated (Thigpen et al, 2011). Adjuvant therapy with corticosteroids has also proved beneficial on neurological outcome and survival (McIntyre et al., 1997; de Gans and van de Beek, 2002). In developing countries mortality rates are around 50%, depending on age and pathogen (Koedel et al., 2002). Improvements in health care and broad vaccination programs may affect outcome and incidence in the near future (WHO, 2012).

Bacterial cell-wall components are important triggers of the immune system, and the strong inflammatory response to pathogen invasion is responsible for many of the pathophysiological perturbations seen in bacterial meningitis (van de Beek et al., 2006; Koedel et al., 2002, 2010). Leukocyte migration into the cerebrospinal fluid involves breaching the blood-brain barrier, and the resulting increase in permeability is the basis of brain oedema in meningitis (Gurney et al., 2006; Wispelway et al., 1988; Scheld et al., 2002). Vascular engorgment and hydrocephalus may also lead to intracranial hypertension, affecting global cerebral blood flow. Loss of autoregulation may further increase brain oedema through increased capillary pressure (Pedersen et al., 2008) In addition, vasculitis may induce focal reductions in blood flow. Septic chock and hypovolaemia from systemic inflammation is common (van de Beek et al., 2006; Maconochie et al., 2008). As in traumatic brain injury, intracranial hypertension and ischaemia are the major causes of death in meningitis, and the main therapeutic targets for supportive intensive care.

Microcirculation

Vessels with a diameter of less than 100 μ m comprise the microcirculation, and the very smallest these, the capillaries with a diameter of 4–9 μ m and the venules with a diameter of 7–30 μ m, constitute the interface between blood and tissue. They are composed of a single layer endothelial cells and a surrounding basement membrane, and around the venules also a weak layer of smooth muscle cells.

As the arterial tree branches, the number of vessels and the cross-sectional area increase, while pressure and flow velocity decrease. At the capillary level, flow velocity is merely 0.3 mm/s - 1/1000 of the aortic systolic flow – and the flow is no longer pulsatile. The cross-sectional area has also increased by a factor 1000. The total surface area of the exchange vessels has been estimated to 500-1000 square metres. In most tissues, not all capillaries are open at each given moment. The smooth muscle layer in terminal arterioles contract spontaneously and divert flow to open capillaries. These precapillary sphincters relax in response to hypoxia, thereby acutely regulating capillary flow to meet tissue metabolic demands. Capillary recruitment also increases the total area for diffusional exchange, which is of importance for solute and solvent transfer. The number of open capillaries does not, however, influence total peripheral vascular resistance. The major pressure drop in the systemic circulation lies within the arterioles (Guyton and Hall, 2000; Levick, 2000). In the brain, all capillaries are considered to be constantly perfused (Kuchinsky and Paulson, 1992), due to the high metabolic demands of neurons and their inability store energy rich substrates as glycogen.

Regulation of pressure and flow

The hydrostatic pressure in the microcirculation is regulated through nervous, hormonal and local metabolic control to protect the tissue from high or low systemic pressures and to meet tissue demands. The capillary pressure, P_c , depends on the ratio of arterial and venous resistances (R_a/R_v) , as described by Pappenheimer and Soto-Rivera (1948). Precapillary constriction, as for instance in haemorrhage, will decrease P_c and induce a transient absorption of interstitial fluid (see equation 2 below). In response to changes in transmural pressure, arterioles will contract or dilate to regulate the downstream pressure. This intrinsic myogenic activity is extremely important for the pressure autoregulation of the exchange vessels. The autoregulation of capillary pressure is present in most tissues, and it is especially efficient in the brain vasculature, where resistance is more segmental and up to 50% of the pressure drop takes place in larger arteries (Heistad et al., 1978; Guyton and Hall, 2000). During systemic inflammation, as in sepsis or after trauma, the myogenic control is probably lost, which may explain some of the plasma volume losses seen under such conditions, because of increased filtration pressure (Mellander et al., 1987; Dubniks et al., 2007;

Hollenberg and Cunnion, 1994). In brain trauma or meningitis, loss of vasoreactivity corresponds to the magnitude of the injury, and may have profound effects on capillary hydrostatic pressure and, leaving the microcirculation open to near systemic filtration pressures.

Microvascular flow is tightly regulated to meet the metabolic needs of the tissues – except for skin, where flow itself is part of temperature homeostasis, and kidneys, that are normally perfused at a constant level. Endothelial cells respond to frictional shear stress from the flowing blood by releasing vasoactive substances, causing relaxation of the vascular smooth muscle cells in a paracrine way. Circulating catecholamines and perivascular nerves affect resistance and flow in response to central stimuli. In the brain, there is a particular strong coupling of blood flow to metabolism. Hypoxia and hypercarbia are strong vasodilating stimuli, whereas hyperoxia and hypocarbia contracts resistance vessels (Levick, 2000, Guyton and Hall, 2000).

Regulation of permeability

The endothelial cells also regulate permeability by the contractile cytoskeleton. Through cell contraction or relaxation, the size of the interendothelial clefts can be modified. Pro-inflammatory substances induce contraction of the cytoskeleton through Ca^{2+} -dependent pathways. Factors raising levels of cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) relaxes the cells and counteracts the increase in permeability (Galley et al., 2004, Levick, 2000). There is extensive interaction between the endothelium and the immune and haemostatic systems. The normal endothelium acts anti-inflammatory and anti-coagulant, but is pro-inflammatory and pro-thrombotic in for example trauma and infection, making it a target for interventions in the critically ill (Galley et al., 2004).

Transvascular exchange

A semipermeable membrane, permeable only to solvent but not to solute, is the basis for osmotic flow between solutions of different concentrations. Fluid will cross the membrane from low to high concentration to even out the gradient. Fluid movement can be balanced by an opposing hydrostatic pressure. The pressure resulting in no flow will equal the osmotic pressure, π , of the solution. The osmotic pressure depends on the number of dissolved particles according to van't Hoff's equation:

$$\pi = CRT \tag{Eq. 1}$$

where C is the millimolar concentration of the solute, R is the universal gas constant, and T is absolute temperature. At body temperature RT is 19.3 mmHg/mmol/L. With physiologic osmolality of about 300 mosm/L, the osmotic

pressure in plasma, in the interstitium, and in all cells will reach the tremendously high value of $19.3 \times 300 \approx 5800$ mmHg. As water and small hydrophilic solutes pass freely across the capillary membrane through clefts between endothelial cells, only plasma proteins ("colloids"), with a concentration of only 1 mmol/L, contribute to the effective osmotic pressure in plasma. Albumin, being the most abundant plasma protein, accounts for about 75% of the colloid osmotic pressure. The colloid osmotic pressure is about 30% higher than would be expected from protein concentration alone, because the negatively charged albumin attracts nearby cations – the Donnan effect – and is normally around 25 mmHg. (Levick, 2000; Holbeck, 2006). In the following π or COP will denote colloid osmotic pressure, and crystalloid osmotic pressure will be denoted P_{osm}.¹

There is a constant net filtration of plasma water over the capillary wall, cleared by the lymphatic drainage of the tissues. Plasma proteins are also lost at a rate of about 5–10%/hour (Marx, 2003): the transcapillary escape rate. Already in 1896, Starling postulated that the transcapillary colloid osmotic pressure of plasma proteins ($\Delta\pi$) counteracts the transcapillary hydrostatic pressure (ΔP) and that the balance determines fluid flow (J_v) over the exchange vessels (Starling, 1896). The equation bearing his name has later been derived from thermodynamics:

$$J_{\nu} = L_{p}S(\Delta P - \sigma \Delta \pi)$$

(Eq. 2)

where L_pS is the product of hydraulic conductivity (the pressure dependant water permeability) and total surface area available for exchange and σ is the reflection coefficient for proteins (Kedem and Katchalsky, 1958). σ is defined as the effective fraction of the calculated osmotic pressure in plasma. It has a value between 0 and 1 and describes the permeability of the osmotic solute (Staverman, 1951). For proteins, σ is typically > 0.9 in skeletal muscle and gut, and for electrolytes close to zero in most tissues. In the brain, however, σ for both proteins and electrolytes is 1 or close to 1, which is of profound importance for brain

¹In paper I and II, the terms COP and plasma oncotic pressure (POP) are used interchangeably, because of adherence to reviewers preferences.

volume regulation (Guyton and Hall, 2000; Levick, 2000; Levick and Michel, 2010; Rippe and Haraldsson, 1994; Fenstermacher, 1984).

Two-pore theory

Transport in major vessels is purely convective – this is indeed the evolutionary purpose of the circulatory system; life had outgrown diffusion distances – but at the capillary level, diffusion is by far the most important mechanism for exchange of nutrients and metabolic waste between tissue and blood. It has been estimated that diffusional exchange of water and nutrients is 80 times faster than plasma flow along the capillary (Guyton and Hall, 2000). 85–95% of water and small hydrophilic solutes leave the capillary through clefts between the endothelial cells, that effectively restrict permeation of macromolecules the size of albumin and larger. The existence of these small pores was suggested in 1951 by Pappenheimer, Renkin and Borrero, after experiments showing size selectivity of the endothelial barrier (Pappenheimer et al., 1951). Grotte subsequently introduced the concept of large pores, to account for macromolecular transport (Grotte, 1956).

Small pores are evenly distributed along the capillary and have a functional size of 4–6 nm (*i.e.* the size they would have, if they were cylindrical) and constitute only 0.1% of the total area of the exchange vessels. Macromolecules leave the microcirculation mainly by convection through 20–30 nm wide large pores, most of which are located at the venular end of the capillary. The ratio of large to small pores is estimated to 1/10 000–1/30 000, and at normal permeability, large pores account for 4–10% of the total fluid flow (Rippe and Haraldsen, 1994). Across the large pores, the colloid osmotic gradient, $\Delta \pi$, is practically zero, and only the hydrostatic pressure gradient drives the flow. Consequently, regardless of the net Starling forces across the capillary boundary, there is always a loss of protein and fluid to the interstitium. It follows that an increase in number of large pores, from inflammation, or an increase in hydrostatic pressure will increase the transcapillary filtration. (Levick and Michel, 2011). In states of systemic inflammation, as sepsis or trauma, this constant loss of plasma volume may compromise cardiovascular filling and performance.

In addition to pore size, the endothelial lining of negatively charged proteoglycans, the glycocalyx, contributes to the sieving properties of the barrier (Michel and Curry, 1999; Levick and Michel, 2010; Rippe and Haraldsson, 1994; Bansch et al., 2011). A third pore family, the aquaporins, with a diameter of less than 0.4 nm, account for only a few per cent of the total transvascular fluid exchange in most tissues.

An alternative pathway for macromolecules is transcytosis by vesicular uptake and transport. This theory has been questioned on theoretical and experimental grounds (Rippe et al., 2002), and probably does not explain bulk transfer of macromolecules in most tissues.

Nitric oxide

NO is mainly produced by NO-synthases (NOS) through oxygen dependent conversion of L-arginine to NO and L-citrulline. Three iso-enzymes are known: the inducible, the neuronal and the endothelial (iNOS, nNOS, and eNOS, respectively). Endothelial-produced NO is a central regulator of basal vascular tone in both brain and peripheral tissues. Factors raising intracellular Ca²⁺-levels, like acetylcholine and shear stress, increase eNOS activity. NO diffuses quickly to vascular smooth muscle to cause an increase in cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP), in turn lowering Ca²⁺-levels and relaxing the cell (Faraci and Heistad, 1998). NO may also regulate basal microvascular permeability (Persson et al., 2003) and has antiaggregatory effects on thrombocytes (Moncada, 1997). In disease, NO is a dual sword. Excessive NO production in sepsis and trauma contributes to vasoplegic shock, and may increase vascular permeability in brain and body (Thiel and Audus, 2001, Moncada, 1997). NO produced by Ca²⁺-independent iNOS in macrophages is a part of the non-specific immune response, and is cytotoxic to pathogens as well as host.

In brain trauma, reduced production of NO is implicated in microvascular dysfunction, microthrombosis, and blood flow reductions, and is a possible target for pharmacological intervention (Hlatky et al., 2003; Lundblad and Bentzer, 2007).

Prostacyclin

Prostacyclin (PGI₂) is the main arachidonic acid product in the endothelium, and has a short half-life of only 2–3 minutes. It is constitutively formed in endothelial cells, and its main physiologic action is considered to be platelet inhibition – it is the most powerful platelet inhibito yet described – but it also regulates microvascular permeability and tone by increasing cAMP in endothelial and vascular smooth muscle cells after binding to its membrane bound receptor, the IP-receptor (Vane and Botting, 1995). Prostacyclin may also bind to nuclear peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors, PPARs, that are implicated in anti-inflammatory regulation and cytoprotection after ischaemia/reperfusion injuries (Chen et al., 2009). Clinically prostacyclin is mainly used as a vasodilator in pulmonary hypertension and peripheral artery disease and as an anticoagulant.

In sepsis and systemic inflammation, prostacyclin production may be reduced and the balance between prostacyclin and its physiologic counterpart, the vasoconstrictive and pro-coagulant thromboxane A_2 , disturbed (Zardi et al., 2007). In brain trauma, prostacyclin production may be insufficient for maintenance of microvascular function (Lundblad et al., 2007). Promising results of prostacyclin treatment have been presented in experimental brain trauma (Bentzer et al., 2001, 2003).

Statins

Statins are inhibitors of 3-hydroxymethylglutaryl-coenzyme-A reductase, the ratelimiting step in cholesterol synthesis. Their primary use as blood lipid lowering agents have made them international bestsellers after a number of studies showing secondary preventive effects on major cardiovascular events, such as myocardial infarction, angina pectoris, and ischaemic stroke (Pedersen et al., 1994; Sever et al, 2003). It is now well recognized that the effect of statins on vascular disease is beyond what can be explained by their lipid lowering effect alone (Adam and Laufs, 2008; Prinz and Endres, 2009).

Whereas other potential neuroprotectants have failed to progress beyond phase II clinical studies (Loane and Faden, 2010), statins have made it to adjuvant brain injury therapy through the backdoor. By widespread use in a stroke-prone population, the effect of statin pre-treatment could be elucidated. Two sides of the coin were discovered: statins up regulate endothelial NO production, but in statin withdrawal there is a strong rebound effect and suppression of eNOS (Prinz and Endres, 2009; Laufs et al., 2000).

In brain trauma, experimental evidence suggests improved microvascular function, reduced oedema, reduced microthrombosis, reduced oxidative stress and inflammatory cytokines, improved angiogenesis, increased neuronal survival and better neurological outcome after statin treatment (Lu et al., 2004, 2007; Wang et al., 2007; Mahmod et al., 2008; Chen et al., 2009; Beziaud et al., 2011).

In small, randomized clinical studies on statin treatment in subarachnoid haemorrhage and ischaemic stroke there are conflicting data regarding neurological outcome and incidence of vasospasm (Lynch et al., 2005; Vergouwen et al., 2009; Blanco et al., 2007; Montaner et al., 2008). In human brain trauma one small study suggests improved memory after statin treatment (Tapia-Perez et al., 2008).

By inhibiting the conversion of HMG-CoA to mevalonate, statins reduce the availability of isoprenoids. These short lipophilic molecules are necessary for the membrane-bound, active form of a number of small GTPases, including the Rho family, that control a vast number of cellular functions. This is held to be the principal mechanism by which statins exhibit anti-inflammatory, anti-oxidative, and positive endothelial effects separate from their cholesterol-lowering properties (Prinz and Endres, 2009; Rikitake and Liau, 2005). RhoA and the associated Rho kinase (Rho/ROCK pathway) negatively regulate eNOS activity, both by affecting eNOS mRNA stability and by inhibiting phosphorylation of eNOS to its active form. Rho kinase inhibition by statins therefore increases both the production and activity of eNOS. Furthermore, decreased production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) may affect the half-life of NO. Apart from the vascular effects, NO may also have direct effects on platelet aggregation (Laufs et al., 2000).

Fluid therapy

Intravenous fluids are used to maintain homeostasis of body fluid compartments, and as such they should be considered as drugs. As for all drugs, the benefits must outweigh the risks. Compared to many other drugs, fluids have a wide therapeutic range, as the healthy body possesses finely tuned mechanisms for keeping total body water within tight limits (Giebish and Windhager, 2003). In the critically ill, however, fluid therapy must be titrated. Tissue oedema from fluid overload is common and associated with increased morbity (Marx, 2003; Arikan et al., 2011).



Figure 1. Schematic illustration of body fluid compartments. The intracellular volume (ICV) constitutes two thirds of the total body water. The extracellular volume is divided into interstitial volume (ISV) and plasma volume (PV). Only water passes freely between all compartments. A crystalloid solution introduced into the plasma volume will rapidly be distributed equally with the whole extracellular compartment (ICV + PV), whereas a colloid to a will remain in the PV to an extent depending on its permeation through the capillary barrier, the boundary between the PV and the ISV. The Starling equilibrium (equation 2) governs solvent flow over the capillaries, with hydrostatic and colloid osmotic pressure gradients of about 20–30 mmHg. The boundary between the ISV and ICV is the cell membrane, impermeable to even to small hydrophilic subtstances. Fluid flux over the cell membrane is governed the total osmolar gradient. The total osmotic pressure in each fluid compartment is 5800 mmHg – 200 times the Starling forces!

 ΔP_{osm} = crystalloid osmotic gradient, ΔP = transcapillary hydrostatic pressure, $\Delta \pi$ = transcapillary colloid osmotic pressure.

Fluids used for plasma volume expansion can be divided according to the molecular weight (MW) of the solutes. Crystalloids, like saline and Ringer's solution, contain electrolytes (chiefly sodium and chloride) and sometimes buffer bases (acetate, lactate) with MWs spanning from 20–90 Da. They are small enough to pass freely through the small pores of the capillary barrier, and are therefore rapidly distributed in the whole extracellular fluid after intravenous administration. The plasma volume expansion is, at best, 20–25% of the infused volume. (Hillman et al., 1997, Persson and Grände, 2005). Colloids, on the other hand, are defined as solutions with MW > 30 kDa, and remain primarily within the vascular space. A portion of them, depending on the prevailing permeability and capillary hydrostatic pressure, will leak through the large pore system (Dubniks et

al., 2007, Rippe and Haraldsson, 1994). Synthetic colloids, made of starch, gelatin or dextran, are a mixture of molecular sizes. Part of the infused volume will then behave in a crystalloid way, with larger distribution to the interstitium and faster renal elimination. Synthetic colloids are also degraded relatively fast, which shortens their plasma half lives. In our studies we used albumin as colloid because of its longer lasting and predictable plasma expanding effect. Albumin is also considered the safest colloid in intensive care, because of minimal effect on coagulation, renal function, and with negligible risks of anaphylaxis (Hartog et al., 2011). The use of albumin in neurocritical care is, however, controversial, and this issue will be discussed in some depth below.

Volume regulation of the brain

The blood-brain barrier is the functional unit separating the brain interstitium from the rest of the circulation. It is composed of the capillary endothelial cells, the basal membrane, vascular pericytes, and the foot processes of astrocytes, and it is essential controlling the composition of the brain extracellular fluid. Paracellular passage of polar solutes is effectively hindered by tight junctions between the endothelial cells, and only water permeates the barrier passively. Specific transport systems regulate the entry of nutrients into the brain, and can exclude or actively efflux unwanted substances. Lipophilic substances, like oxygen, carbon dioxide and anaesthetics, diffuse freely, like in the rest of the body. When it comes to protect the brain from harmful substances, the blood-brain barrier thus performs poorly and without much discrimination. Alcohol, nicotine and other substances of abuse have free access to the mind, whereas therapeutic drugs, like penicillin, may be left outside (Abbott et al., 2006). Luckily, passage of the most dangerous substance of them all is effectively controlled: *water*.

The reflection coefficient, σ in equation 2, is practically 1 for both proteins and electrolytes at the blood-brain barrier. Consider the total effective osmotic pressure in all fluid compartments of about 5500 mmHg. Should there be even a minute transvascular filtration or absorption of water because of changes in hydrostatic or *colloid* osmotic pressure gradients, the *crystalloid* osmotic pressure in the brain interstitium would change immediately, by dilution or concentration, and terminate the fluid flux. Thus, the transcapillary hydrostatic and colloid osmotic pressures of about 25 mmHg have no influence on water movement into the brain. This osmotic buffering system is the basis for the strict volume control of the brain (Fenstermacher, 1984). It follows that isotonic crystalloids do not diffuse passively into the brain, which has been repeatedly shown experimentally (Zornow et al., 1987; Jungner et al., 2010). Likewise, a low colloid osmotic pressure in plasma, as in hypoalbuminemia or after large amounts of crystalloids, has no influence on brain water content because of the effective osmotic buffering

capacity of the blood-brain barrier. In other words, for the healthy brain, an isotonic crystalloid is the perfect plasma volume expander.

If the barrier is breached, however, as in trauma, infection, or ischaemia, (Hawkins, 2005; Krizbai et al., 2005; Abbott et al., 2006; Preston and Foster, 1997; Whispelway, 1988) the volume control fails. σ for electrolytes will be drastically reduced, and for proteins it may reach the value of peripheral vascular beds, if the holes in the barrier are not too large or too many. At such a state, the balance between transvascular hydrostatic and colloid osmotic gradients will govern fluid flow. Crystalloid solutions will diffuse passively over the barrier and increase brain water content. Colloid solutions, on the other hand, may still respect the barrier and thereby minimize brain oedema. Obviously, the hydrostatic capillary pressure will be an important determinant of transvascular fluid flow (Kongstad and Grände, 2001; Grände, 2006).

Brain oedema

Brain oedema, excess fluid in the brain, is classically defined as extracellular or intracellular depending on its main location (Klatzo, 1967, Unterberg, 2004; Kimelberg, 2004). Extracellular oedema is considered to be of vasogenic origin, where fluid is filtrated across an open blood-brain barrier. Note that vasogenic brain oedema is not necessarily rich in plasma proteins. Filtration can occur even at low permeability for macromolecules, as long as electrolytes pass unhindered and no crystalloid osmotic gradient can counteract the transcapillary hydrostatic pressure. The traditional animal model for studying vasogenic oedema has been the freeze lesion, which probably increases macromolecular permeability to a much larger degree than seen in trauma and infection (see further Models of disease in the Discussion). Therefore, the proper molecular size to probe the blood-brain barrier is not large proteins like albumin, horseradish peroxidase, or globulins, but smaller ones, like sucrose, EDTA or contrast agents like iohexol. Absence of extravasation of a large probe does not imply a functioning blood-brain barrier or a normal volume control of the brain!

Cellular oedema is the result of failing cell volume regulation. Stipulated mechanisms involve energy depletion and inability of the Na^+/K^+ -ATPase to maintain the transmembrane potential, increased permeability to Na^+ and K^+ , and cellular uptake of osmolytes, like the high levels of glutamate seen after brain trauma (Unterberg, 2004). Cellular oedema is most prominent in astrocytes, and may initially be manifest as a shift of water from the interstitium, without increased volume of the brain. (Kimelberg, 2004). The astrocytic perivascular endfeet express aquaporin-4, and these waterchannels have been implicated in the development of cellular oedema as well as the clearance of extracellular oedema. The mechanisms are still unclear, and the potential for treatment currently unknown (Bloch and Manley, 2007). It should be emphasized that cellular and

vasogenic oedema in no way are mutually exclusive, and that both types probably coexist in the traumatized brain (Marmarou, 2007).

Aims of the studies

- Paper ITo compare the effect on crystalloid or colloid normovolaemic
fluid resuscitation on brain oedema in a rat model of traumatic
brain injury and haemorrhage, and to investigate if the observed
difference could be explained by increased blood-brain barrier
permeability.
- **Paper II** To compare intracranial pressure development after crystalloid or colloid normovolaemic fluid resuscitation in a cat model of bacterial meningitis.
- Paper IIITo investigate effects of prostacyclin on intracranial pressure
and plasma volume in a cat model of bacterial meningitis.
- **Paper IV** To investigate potential effects of rosuvastatin treatment on brain oedema and microvascular function in a rat model of traumatic brain injury.
- **Paper V** To investigate if blood-brain barrier permeability is increased in pericontusional tissue early after traumatic brain injury in humans.

Material and methods

Ethics

All animals used in study I–IV were purchased from professional breeders and treated in accordance with Swedish law. All experiments were approved by the Animal Ethics Committee at Lund University, Sweden.

The patients in study V were enrolled after informed consent from the next of kin, and, in the case of a favourable outcome, later from the patients themselves. The study was approved by the Human Research Ethics committee of Lund University, Sweden.

Anaesthesia and surgical preparation

Rats (I and IV)

In study I and IV, adult male Sprague-Dawley rats were used. Anaesthesia was induced by intraperitoneal injection of pentobarbital, and maintained with isoflurane in air on an open nose cone during vascular cannulation and preparation for trauma. The femoral artery was cannulated for monitoring of blood pressure and for blood sampling. The internal jugular vein was used for infusions and for measurement of central venous pressure (CVP) (Study I). Rectal temperature was maintained at a normal level through a feedback controlled heating pad. After trauma and interventions (see below), the animals were allowed to wake up in a temperature-controlled environment, and they were then transferred to their litter box with free access to food and water. At the time of the final measurements, the animals were re-anaesthetized with isoflurane in air in a closed chamber, vascular access was re-established and the trachea was intubated via a tracheotomy. The lungs were mechanically ventilated (Ugo Basile Animal Ventilators, Comerio, Italy) to an end-tidal carbon dioxide concentration of 4.5-5.5% (Capstar-1000; CWE, Ardmore, PA). After termination of the experimental procedures the animals were decapitated, and the brains were quickly harvested for the different analyses (see below).

Cats (II and III)

In study II and III, adult male cats were used. Anaesthesia was induced with an intramuscular injection ketamine, and maintained with α -chloralose after venous cannulation. The animals were ventilated with air via a tracheotomy using a volume-controlled ventilator with a positive end-expiratory pressure of 5 cm H₂O. End-tidal PCO₂ was continuously measured and kept at a normal level. Normal core temperature was ensured by a feedback controlled heating-pad. An arterial cannula was inserted for recording of mean arterial pressure and for blood sampling. The bladder was catheterized for urine volume collection. At the end of the experiments, the cats were killed by an infusion of potassium chloride.

Trauma model (I and IV)

Technical considerations

In the lateral fluid percussion technique (fluid percussion injury, FPI), focal brain trauma is induced by the propagation of a pressure pulse through a fluid filled cylinder and a distal tube directly onto the exposed dura. A pendulum is released from a calibrated height onto a freely moving piston at the proximal end of the cylinder. The transferred energy to the brain obviously depends on the area of the distal tube and the pulse pressure over time. The pressure is gauged in the distal tube. In the literature, by tradition, only the peak pressure is reported; therefore, the level of trauma in different studies cannot be directly compared. It is specific to each experimental setup and must be determined through other measures, such as histology or functional outcome. The recorded pressures vary little, however, once the FPI device is calibrated, and are useful as a marker of trauma intensity.

The fluid percussion setup is depicted in Figure 1. We used a trauma of approximately 2.4 bars, and the pressure pulse lasted about 21 ms. After some hesitation, it was experienced that this level of trauma numbs the tip of your finger for a short time without leaving marks or bruises.

Any factor affecting the pressure propagation will also affect the induced trauma. Especially, even minute bubbles of air entrapped in the distal tube, or larger amounts of air in the cylinder, will absorb some of the energy. It is therefore of utmost importance to ascertain an air-free system before each experiment. The pressure over time curve in our experiments was graphically displayed after digital conversion (AcqKnowledge 3.9.1; Biopac Systems, CA, USA), enabling a visual quality control of the trauma and an easy way of detecting air in the system.

During study I we experienced a series of animals with dural tears after trauma. The reason was found to be crystalline deposits of sodium chloride within the distal tube, probably affecting stroke length of the fluid column and/or peak pressure, thereby increasing the tension in the dura until it split. After this time

consuming and frustrating incidence, the system was thoroughly and regularly cleansed.

Protocol

Anaesthetized rats were positioned with the head in a stereotaxic frame, and the skull was exposed via a midline incision after infiltration of a local anaesthetic. A left-sided craniotomy was performed with a 5 mm trephine, midways between the coronal and lambdoid sutures. A plastic Luer cone, cut from a cannula to fit the distal metal tube of the FPI-machine (Amscien Instruments, Richmond, VA, USA), was fitted to the craniotomy with Histoacryl (Braun, Tuttingen, Germany). A metal screw was anchored in the frontal bone, and the Luer cone was secured to the screw with dental cement (Dentalon Plus; Heraeus Kulzer GmbH, Hanau, Germany). The plastic connector was filled with saline and connected to the distal tube of the FPI device, ensuring an air free system. After trauma, the connector was rapidly removed and the dura was carefully examined. Animals with dural tears were excluded from further study. A typical reaction to trauma included apnea and seizures lasting 10–30 seconds. In some cases, securing the airway by the "tongue thrust manoeuvre" or facilitating ventilation by manual compressions of the thorax was necessary.



Figure 2. Fluid percussion injury device and the site of the trepanation. See text for details. Reprinted with kind permission from Thompson et al., 2005.

Meningitis model (II and III)

In the anaesthetized cats the dura was punctured at the level of the atlanto-occipital membrane, using a 22-gauge spinal cannula. 0.8×10^6 U/kg of E. coli derived lipopolysaccharide (LPS) in 0.5 mL saline was injected intrathecally. In this model, a clinical picture of severe meningitis is developed within a few hours, with marked plasma volume loss and increased ICP (Temesvári et al., 1993; Gärdenfors et al., 2004). At the time of injection, there is a transient peak in ICP – an effect of the injected volume – confirming correct placement of the needle.

Motor function (I)

In study I, the trauma intensity was evaluated with the composite neuroscore test (McIntosh et al., 1989, Bentzer et al., 2001). Before and 24 hours after trauma or sham injury the following parameters were evaluated, with scores from 0 (severely impaired) to 4 (normal): right and left forelimb and hindlimb provoked flexion; ability to resist right and left lateral pulsion; ability to stand on an inclined plane. Summation of the results generated the composite neuroscore (0-28).

Microdialysis and intracranial pressure registration (II and III)

In each parietal bone, a conical hole of 3 mm to 4 mm in diameter was bored about 12 mm lateral to the sagittal suture. When the skull was breached the dura was punctured with a cannula. A microdialysis catheter with an external diameter of 0.5 mm, a length of 10 mm, and a molecular cur-off of 20 kDa (CMA/20; CMA Microdialysis, Stockholm, Sweden) was placed in the cortex through the right bore hole. A tip transducer for intraparenchymal pressure registration (Codman and Shurleff, Raynham,MA, USA) was placed in the cortex through the left bore hole. To prevent leakage of cerebrospinal fluid, the dura and the bore holes were sealed with Histoacryl. The microdialysis catheter was perfused with Ringer's acetate at 0.5 mL/min. The microvials collecting the dialysate were replaced every second hour, and stored at -30°C until analysis. Dialysate concentrations of glucose, lactate and pyruvate were performed with a CMA 600 (CMA, Microdialysis, Solna, Sweden).

Cerebral blood flow (IV and V)

Study IV

Cortical blood flow was measured with the autoradiographic technique described by Sakurada et al. (1978), using the following equation:

$$C_{i}(T) = \lambda K \int_{0}^{T} C_{a} e^{-K(T-t)} dt$$
(Eq. 3)

where $C_i(T)$ is the tissue concentration of an inert, freely diffusible tracer; λ is the tissue:blood partition coefficient; C_a is the concentration of the tracer in arterial blood; t is time. K is defined as $K = (m/\lambda)(F/W)$, where F/W is blood flow per unit mass and m is a constant 0 - 1 describing the diffusive equilibration of the tracer between blood and tissue during the passage through the capillary. A value of m close to 1 implies that tissue uptake is not limited by diffusion, but by blood flow alone, and blood flow can be calculated as λK . For the tracer ¹⁴C-iodoantipyrine $\lambda = 0.8$ and m = 1 (Sakurada et al., 1978).

In brief, anaesthetized rats, artificially ventilated to normocapnia, received an infusion of the tracer during 45 seconds, and 10 arterial blood samples were obtained at predefined intervals. At the time of the last blood sample, the animals were decapitated and the brains were rapidly frozen and later sectioned with a cryostat. The sections were exposed on an x-ray film together with calibrated standards. Tissue concentrations, $C_i(T)$, in the traumatized and contralateral cortex was determined by densitometry, after digital conversion of the developed films, using ImageJ, a public image analysis software from the National Institute of Health, US. Blood concentrations, $C_a(t)$, were measured in a liquid scintillation counter after quenching and bleaching. Blood flow was calculated as the mean of two levels, -4.5 and -6.8 mm relative to bregma (Bentzer et al., 2003).

Study V

Perfusion CT examinations were performed on a Brilliance 64 scanner (Philips Healthcare, Best, Netherlands) in patients and controls in study V. After initial non-contrast enhanced imaging, a bolus of iohexol 350 mg/mL was given intravenously, and 8 continuous axial slices with a thickness of 5 mm were obtained every 1.5 seconds during 50 seconds. Cerebral blood flow was automatically calculated with the commercial software package Brain Perfusion (version 1.2, Philips Medical Systems, Best, Netherlands) according to the central volume principle. In the algorithm, time-enhancement curves from tissue and the anterior cerebral artery are used to calculate cerebral blood volume (CBV) and

mean transit time (MTT) of the contrast agent. CBF can then be calculated for each voxel as CBV/MTT (Wintermark et al., 2001).

Number of perfused capillaries (IV)

Rats in cortical blood flow experiments were given a bolus of fluorescein isothiocyanate marked albumin (FITC-albumin) at the start of the tracer infusion. Sections adjacent to those chosen for blood-flow measurements were analyzed with a laser scanning confocal microscope (Zeiss LSM 510; Oberkochen, Germany) and digitized. Vessels with a diameter of 5–12 μ m containing FITC-albumin were considered to be perfused capillaries. The image analysis was performed with dedicated software (Sigmascan; Systat Software, Erkrath, Germany).

Blood-brain barrier permeability (I, IV and V)

Permeability is often accused when plasma constituents are found on the wrong side of a barrier, but it is important to remember that other factors influence extravasation. For small solutes, transported across membranes mainly by diffusion, plasma flow and the surface area available for exchange are the major determinants of extravasation beside permeability. For larger molecules, convection is of increasing importance, and capillary pressure may have to be accounted for (Levick and Michel, 2010, Rippe and Haraldsson, 1994).

The transfer K_i of a solute from blood to brain is a function of plasma flow (*FV*), blood-brain barrier permeability (*P*) and the total area available for transvascular exchange (*S*), assuming there is no backflow from the tissue compartment (Fenstermacher et al., 1981), according to the following equation:

$$K_i = FV(1 - e^{-PS/FV})$$
(Eq. 4)

When permeability is low and plasma flow in the tissue is sufficiently high for a sustained concentration gradient from blood to tissue ($K_i/FV < 0.1$), K_i approximates *PS*, the permeability surface area product, with an error of < 6% (Blasberg et al., 1983).

Study I and IV

K_i for the small hydrophilic complex ⁵¹Cr-EDTA (molecular weight 358 Da, study I and IV), and for the large molecule ¹²⁵I-albumin (molecular weight 69 kDa, study

I), was used to measure post-traumatic permeability changes of the blood-brain barrier, using the equation:

$$K_i = B / \int_0^T C_a(t) dt$$
(Eq. 5)

where *B* is the amount of the tracer in the tissue, $C_a(t)$ arterial concentration and t is time (Fenstermacher et al., 1981). Anaesthetized and mechanically normoventilated rats received an intravenous bolus dose of ⁵¹Cr-EDTA or ¹²⁵I-albumin, followed by a constant rate infusion of ⁵¹Cr-EDTA or saline, respectively. Plasma concentration of the tracer was measured at regular intervals, and the animals were decapitated after 40 min (Cr-EDTA) or 60 min (albumin). Tissue plasma volume was determined with an intravenous bolus dose of either ¹²⁵I-albumin or ¹³¹I-albumin, allowed to circulate for the last 4 min of the experiment, and tissue uptake of the tracer was calculated as tissue activity minus regional plasma activity.

Study V

 K_i for the small hydrophilic contrast agent iohexol (molecular weight 821 Da) was determined by Patlak plot analysis, based on the same two-compartmental, unidirectional model of blood to brain transfer (Patlak et al., 1983). After perfusion CT examination, 8 additional scans were performed during 25 minutes. The images were exported to ImageJ and analysed with a dedicated macro. Tissue amount of the tracer, A_m , can be described according to the following equation:

$$A_m = V_p C_p(t) + K_i \int_0^T C_p(t) dt$$
(Eq. 6)

where V_p is the initial volume of distribution of the tracer and C_p is plasma concentration. Plotting $A_m/C_p(t)$ versus ${}_0 \int^r C_p(t) dt/C_p(t)$ at all time points yields a linear curve with the slope of K_i and an intercept representing V_p . Change in enhancement (Δ Hounsfields units) is directly proportional to iohexol concentration, and was used to determine A_m and C_p . C_p was determined in large venous vessels to avoid partial volume effects associated with arterial vessels. By calculating K_i for each voxel, permeability maps of the whole slice were generated. K_i was also calculated in tissue regions of interest (ROI) surrounding contusions. The ROIs were chosen in non-ischaemic regions, as guided by the perfusion images.

Blood chemistry (I–IV)

Analysis of blood gases, haematocrit and electrolytes in study I–IV was performed with i-STAT (Abbot Scandinavia AB, Stockholm, Sweden), a bedside point-ofcare system with minimal blood requirements. Osmolality (study I) was measured with the freeze point method (Micro-Osmometer Model 210; Fiske Associates, Norwood, Massachusetts, USA). Oncotic pressure (study I) was measured with a 10 kDa cutoff membrane osmometer (Osmomat 050; Gonotec, Berlin, Germany).



Figure 3. Study I and IV. Schematic illustration of the areas chosen for determination of cortical blood flow (CBF), number of perfused capillaries (NPC), cortical water content (CWC), and transfer constant for 51 Cr-EDTA (Ki) in coronal (a) and lateral (b) views. The shaded area represents the contusion.

Cortical water content (I and IV)

After decapitation, the brains were quickly removed and put on a chilled tray to minimize evaporation. A 4 mm slice was cut, centred over the contusion, and the cortex was dissected as shown in Fig X. Wet weights of the specimen were immediately determined, and after desiccation in 100 °C for 24 h, dry weight was obtained. Tissue water content (%) was calculated as $100 \times$ (wet weight – dry weight)/wet weight. This is a simple procedure, widely used for determination of tissue water content, but rapid handling is of essence. The relative decay in water content is linear during at least 8 minutes, and was estimated to be 0.4–0.5%/minute (unpublished data, n = 2). Typical handling times from decapitation to completed weighing of all samples were 3–4 minutes. The evaporation during this time period must have increased the variation in water content data, but with equal magnitude in the different groups.

Plasma volume (I–III)

Plasma volume was estimated as the volume of distribution of ¹²⁵I-albumin measured five minutes after an intravenous injection. During this time, complete mixture within the plasma volume has been shown previously, and transcapillary escape is negligible, even in states of increased microvascular permeability (Persson and Grände, 2006). The technique is highly reproducible and is considered the gold standard for clinical measurements of plasma volume, provided that the amount of unbound iodine is low (Margarson and Soni, 2005, Valeri et al, 1973). The fraction of unbound iodine was < 1% in all experiments, measured as ¹²⁵I-activity in the supernatant after trichloric acid precipitation of the albumin and centrifugation. In study I, total blood volume was calculated as plasma volume/(1 – arterial haematocrit). Sample ¹²⁵I-activity was measured in a gamma counter (1480 Wizard; Wallace Sweden AB, Sollentuna, Sweden).

NO and prostacyclin (IV)

NO is rapidly oxidized to NO₂ (nitrite) and NO₃ (nitrate) in plasma, and the sum of these more stable molecules is commonly used as a measure of NO production (Tsikas, 2007). We used a commercially available kit (Cayman Chemical Co, Ann Arbor, Minnesota, USA), where plasma NO₃ is reduced to NO₂ and total NO_x is converted to an azo dye via the Griess reaction (Tsikas, 2007), which can be quantified photometrically with known standards. Prostacyclin also has a short biological half-life, but the concentration of the stable metabolite 6-keto-PGF_{1-alpha} is considered to reflect in vivo prostacyclin production (Fitzgerald et al., 1983). We employed a commercially available enzyme-linked immunosorbant assay (ELISA) kit for the detection of plasma 6-keto-PGF_{1-alpha} (Cayman Chemical Co., Ann Arbor, MI).

Fluids (I and II)

In study I, the osmolality of Ringer's acetate was increased to 296–300 mmol/L by adding concentrated NaCl. The 5% albumin was prepared from 20% solution diluted with Ringer's acetate and then adjusted to the same osmolality by adding concentrated NaCl. The rationale behind this modification was the need of iso-osmolar solutions, compared to rat plasma, without the large chloride load of normal saline.

In study II, normal saline and 20% albumin were used. There was no need to modify osmolality or buffer capacity of the fluids, as normal saline is indeed almost physiologic in the cat.

Experimental protocols

Study I – Fluid resuscitation in rat brain trauma and haemorrhage

Brain oedema was measured after 3 and 24 hours in rats subjected to fluid percussion injury and severe haemorrhage in groups randomized to resuscitation with either crystalloid or albumin. The lost blood volume of 20 mL/kg was replaced with 20 mL/kg 5% albumin (group A20), 50 mL/kg crystalloid (group C50), or 90 mL/kg crystalloid (group C90). Large and small molecular blood-brain barrier permeability was measured after trauma, to investigate the pathophysiologic basis of oedema development. To determine injury severity, motor function was evaluated blindly in separate animals subjected to trauma or sham trauma, but no haemorrhage or fluids.

Study II – Fluid resuscitation in cat meningitis

Intracranial pressure development was examined in the cat meningitis model. Four hours after intrathecal LPS-injection, the cats were randomized to a 6-hour infusion of normal saline (7.5 mL/kg/h) or 20% albumin (0.4 mL/kg/h) to reach normovolaemia (n = 7 in each group), or no fluids (n = 6). Intracerebral microdialysis was used to investigate signs of anaerobic metabolism and ischaemia. Plasma volume was measured at baseline, after 4 hours and at the end of the experiment.

Study III – Prostacyclin in cat meningitis

Intracranial pressure, plasma volume loss, and cerebral metabolic parameters were investigated in the cat meningitis model. Two groups (n = 7 in each group) were randomized to post-treatment with prostacyclin 1 ng/kg/min or vehicle. Cerebral metabolism was evaluated with the microdialysis technique. A sham group received intrathecal saline and vehicle (n = 3). All animals received an intravenous infusion of saline at 2.5 mL/kg/h.

Study IV – Statin treatment in rat brain trauma

Rats subjected to fluid percussion injury were randomized to 10 mg/kg rosuvastatin or vehicle given intravenously. 4 or 24 hours after trauma, the effects of treatment on brain oedema, cortical blood flow, blood-brain barrier permeability and capillary patency were investigated.

Study V – Blood-brain barrier permeability in human brain trauma

Between December 2006 and May 2010 patients presenting with evidence of severe traumatic brain injury were screened for eligibility, if a member of the research team was available. Inclusion criteria were suspicion of severe brain injury (GCS < 8) or contusions on initial CT, age 16–75 years, informed consent and a clinical indication for a perfusion CT. Exclusion criteria were need of immediate intervention, pregnancy, and lack of informed consent. Three control patients with lateralized brain tumour were included; one was excluded due to motion artefacts. Relevant clinical data was recorded. Blood-brain barrier permeability was calculated offline, without any impact on care.

Main results

Study I – Fluid resuscitation in rat brain trauma and haemorrhage

Trauma resulted in brain oedema and loss of motor function. Haemorrhage and resuscitation alone did not result in brain oedema (sham C90 group). Blood-brain barrier permeability was increased following trauma with a factor 50 for Cr-EDTA, and for albumin with a factor 10, with a decline from 3 to 24 hours. The permeability to albumin in non-traumatized muscle was of the same magnitude as in traumatized brain cortex. Fluid resuscitation in group A20 and C90 resulted in near normovolaemia at 3 hours, whereas group C50 was still hypovolaemic. Colloid osmotic pressure was maintained in the albumin group, and reduced by 35–40% in the crystalloid groups at 3 hours. At 24 hours, all groups had compensated plasma volume and colloid osmotic pressures, but haematocrit was still at post-resuscitation levels. Brain oedema was significantly lower in the A20 group compared to the C90 group at 3 and to both the C50 and C90 group at 24 hours.



Figure 4. Blood volume at 3 and 24 hours after trauma, haemorrhage and resuscitation. A ratio of crystalloid:albumin of 4.5:1 resulted in equal volume expansion, approaching euvoloemia. The dashed lines represent mean baseline values for all groups. * p < 0.05 compared to A20 and C90 (ANOVA).



Figure 5. Brain oedema in trauma, sham-trauma, and control groups at 3 and 24 hours. Note the absence of oedema formation in the sham C90 group. Even a large volume load of isotonic crystalloid will not increase cortical water content because of the intact osmotic buffering capacity of the normal blood-brain barrier. * p < 0.05 compared to A20 (ANOVA), ns = non significant



Figure 6. Blood to brain transfer constants, reflecting permeability, after trauma. Small molecular permeability (Cr-EDTA, molecular weight 358 Da) was increased up 50-fold. Permeability to albumin to (molecular weight 69 kDa) was in the range of values measured in normal muscle. These results indicate that the colloid osmotic gradient over the traumatized blood-brain barrier can be maintained, whereas the important crystalloid osmotic buffering capacity is lost. Note also the size selectivity of the increase in permeability, implying pore like opening of the BBB rather than increased increased vesicular transport. All changes significant compared to sham (ANOVA).

Study II – Fluid resuscitation in cat meningitis

Intrathecal injection of LPS induced an increase in ICP from baseline values of about 10 mmHg to about 20 mmHg after 4 hours. At this time point, the cats had also developed a sepsis-like condition with plasma volume depletion, tachycardia and hypertension. Between 4 and 10 hours, when fluids were given to restore plasma volume, ICP continued to increase in the saline group, but in the albumin group it stabilized or even tended to decrease. In the no fluid group, ICP reached a plateau. In both the saline and the albumin group, plasma volume was restored at

the end of the experiment. The cats in the no fluid group showed progressive haemodynamic deterioration, with declining mean arterial pressure and cerebral perfusion pressure, and a continuous loss of plasma volume. The difference in ICP between the albumin and the saline groups was highly significant during the last four hours of the experiment. In all groups, microdialysis data (lactate/pyruvate ratio and glucose) were within normal limits, indicating adequate cerebral blood flow and oxygenation.



Figure 7. Changes in ICP and plasma volume. In both the saline and the albumin groups, euvolaemia was reached at the end of the experiment, but at the cost of a steadily rising ICP in the saline group. Data are given as means and SD, or means only (sham group). * p < 0.05, ** P < 0.01, *** p < 0.001, ns = non significant (2-way ANOVA for repeated measurements)

Study III – Prostacyclin in cat meningitis

After LPS injection, ICP increased and plasma volume decreased to the same degree as in study II. Infusion of low dose prostacyclin induced a plasma volume recovery and an ICP plateau, whereas in the vehicle group ICP continued to increase and there was a further loss of plasma volume. The differences in plasma volume and ICP were significant at the end of the experiment. Diuresis was significantly higher in the prostacyclin group. In the sham group, no signs of meningitis or systemic inflammatory reaction were observed. As in study II, no signs of metabolic perturbation were observed in microdialysis data, indicating adequate supply of blood and oxygen.



Figure 8. Treatment with prostacyclin resulted in a lower ICP and in plasma volume recovery, as compared to the vehicle group. Data are given as means and SD, or means only (sham group). * p < 0.05 (2-way ANOVA for repeated measurements (ICP); t-test (PV)).

Study IV – Statin treatment in rat brain trauma

Fluid percussion brain injury induced brain oedema and increased K_i for Cr-EDTA to the same degree as in study I. Trauma caused a decrease in cortical blood flow and number of perfused cortical capillaries. Treatment with rosuvastatin increased systemic bioavailability of nictric oxide, but decreased levels of prostacyclin. Mean arterial pressure was lower in the rosuvastatin group. There were no treatment effects on brain oedema, cortical blood flow, or K_i for Cr-EDTA, but there was a recruitment of cortical capillaries in the statin group, reaching significance at 24 hours post trauma.



Figure 9. K_i for Cr-EDTA and the number of perfused cortical capillaries. K_i was not affected by statin treatment, but a small effect on permeability is still possible, considering that capillary

recruitment should increase the total area for diffusional exchange. # p < 0.05 compared to all contusion areas (ANOVA) * p < 0.05 (ANOVA)



Figure 10. Metabolites of NO and PGI_2 in plasma after trauma and pharmacological interventions. Our results indicated increased overall production of NO and PGI_2 after trauma. Rosuvastatin treatment augmented NO production, probably through increased eNOS activity (see text for details). Contrary to our expectations, PGI_2 production was downregulated by rosuvastatin. Box and whiskers depict medians, interquartile range and range.

Study V – Blood-brain barrier permeability in human brain trauma

Seventeen patients were included (6 female), with a median age of 47 years (range 23-70). Nine were involved in motor vehicle accidents. One patient suffered from multiple injuries, necessitating urgent, life saving abdominal and vascular surgery. The remaining patients suffered isolated head injuries. Four patients died because of intracranial complications. One patient remained in a vegetative state. One patient recovered to a pre-injury dependant state. Eleven patients survived with good recovery.

In control patients, K_i for iohexol was found to be about 0.06 ± 0.03 mL/min/100g, and in normal appearing tissue in trauma patients K_I was 0.08 ± 0.03 mL/min/100g. In areas surrounding contusions, K_i was 0.15 - 1.0 mL/min/100g. In eleven of the seventeen patients, Ki was significantly higher in pericontusional tissue than in normal areas or controls. Six of the seven patients with an intracranial pressure of 20 mmHg or higher had increased K_i in pericontusional areas.



Figure 11. Perfusion- and K_i -maps (left and right panels) at day 5 after trauma in a patient with frontal contusions and craniectomy after surgical evacuation of haemorrhagic contusions and subdural haematoma. The patient suffered sustained intracranial hypertension, and later died because of massive infarction. Middle panel shows the corresponding contrast enhanced CT examination. Increased K_i can be seen around the left frontal area of contusions and ischaemia.



Figure 12. Representative measurements from patient 5 (see paper V in appendix), with relative contrast enhancement in tissue and vessels. First pass data are used for CBF calculation. In the Patlak plot the eight last data points are used. Note the constant and high gradient from blood to tissue. Because of the low uptake in cerebral tissue, arterial and venous concentrations of the tracer can be considered equal, but as veins are larger, they provide a more reliable source of measurement. The graphical display of the regression line enables an easy quality control of input data. Linearity is necessary in the Patlak model.

Discussion

The main results from the studies presented in this thesis is that the protective nature of the blood-brain barrier in keeping brain volume within rigid limits is lost following trauma or infection, and that this altered physiology may have wide implications for the care of patients with brain oedema and raised intracranial pressure.

Models of disease

To study disease in a laboratory setting, the models used – be it cell cultures, organs or whole animals – must bear some resemblance to the pathophysiological conditions at focus. The LPS induced meningitis mimics important aspects of bacterial meningitis in humans: it triggers the innate immune system through activation of Toll-like receptors (TLR-4), like in gram-negative sepsis (for a recent review, see Parker et al., 2007), resulting in opening of the blood-brain barrier and a systemic inflammatory response with general loss of plasma volume in a predictable and relatively fast way (Temesvári et al., 1993; Wispelway et al., 1988; Jungner et al., 2009). Therefore, it is a useful tool to explore the dynamics of intracranial hypertension and the sepsis features of meningitis. The cat is also large enough for reproducible measurements of ICP and for intracerebral microdialysis. Obviously, nothing can be learned from LPS induced meningitis concerning causal therapy or human outcome.

The fluid percussion injury has been extensively used for more than 20 years, and defining features of human brain trauma are reproduced (Thompson et al., 2005). Importantly, regarding aspects on fluid therapy, the permeability changes of the blood-brain barrier after fluid percussion injury are probably of the same magnitude as in human brain trauma. Thus, permeability for small polar substances is greatly enhanced, whereas the semipermeable properties of the blood-brain barrier to proteins are more or less sustained (Jungner et al., 2010; Lescot et al., 2006; Hillman et al., 2005; Kirchoff et al., 2008). This is in contrast to the freeze lesion model of brain oedema, where all attempts to maintain a colloid osmotic gradient from blood to tissue have failed, probably because of a large decrease in the reflection factor, σ , of macromolecules (Zornow et al., 1988; Kaieda et al., 1989 a,b; Zhuang et al., 1995).

Fluid management (paper I and II)

What is normovolaemia?

In our animal models of traumatic brain injury and bacterial meningitis, we wanted to mimic clinical aspects of hypovolaemic shock to necessitate fluid replacement. Our endpoints were plasma volume expansion to baseline intravascular volume, and in some sense this must represent a normovolaemic state. This is not to be confused with optimal preload conditions for the heart. Vasodilation, from sepsis or influence of anaesthetics, decreases the central blood volume even in the absence of plasma volume losses (Imm and Carlsson, 1993). Blood is pooled in the periphery, and compensatory mechanisms maintain perfusion by increasing heart rate and contractility. If true hypovolaemia occurs, from haemorrhage or internal fluid shifts, shock progresses, and perfusion of vital organs as brain and heart is preserved at the cost of flow to splanchnic organs, skin and muscles. Modern goal directed fluid therapy aims at optimizing cardiac preload, while keeping potential negative effects of the infusions at a minimum (Bundgaard-Nielsen et al., 2007; Reuter et al., 2002). In titrating fluid replacement, the bedside clinician is often left to indirect signs of cardiovascular performance, such as pulse, arterial and central venous blood pressures, capillary refill, or organ function. At best, more or less invasive monitoring may provide indices of the major determinants of stroke volume: preload, afterload and contractility. Direct measurement of plasma volume is rarely done, and baseline values are never known.

Maybe this explains why most clinical as well as experimental studies comparing different fluid therapies with haemodynamic endpoints end up with a ratio of crystalloid to colloid of 1–2.5:1, which is significantly less than the theoretical distribution of the different fluids (Drummond et al., 1998; Finfer et al., 2004; Myburgh et al., 2007; Brunkhorst et al., 2008; Hartog et al., 2011). When plasma volume expansion has been measured with a reference method in animal models (Persson and Grände, 2005, Jungner et al., 2010), or in patients (Lamke and Liljedahl, 1976), the volume expansion of different colloids has been 3–5 times that of crystalloids.

Pressures are easily gauged, but they are poor measures of volume and flow. Any outcome measure of drugs not given in "equipotent" doses regarding their primary effect must be skewed. As a parallel, morbity and mortality effects of hypertensive drugs are measured at comparable blood pressures. Plasma volume expansion inferred from haemodynamic endpoints can never be accurate.

Results of study I and II

In study I and II, we were not primarily seeking to optimize circulation with fluid therapy; we wanted to investigate the major negative effect of fluid therapy – tissue oedema – at comparable doses of crystalloid or colloid. Reaching baseline

intravascular filling after induced hypovolaemia then would represent "equipotent" volumes. We believe that the cerebral oedema formation by crystalloid fluid replacement, manifested as increased cortical water content in study I and increased ICP in study II, can largely be explained by two mechanisms. Firstly, the breached blood-brain barrier after trauma or infection offers little restriction to small solutes, and crystalloid fluid volume is therefore spread by diffusion in the whole brain extracellular space (see Figure XX). Secondly, once the initial redistribution has occurred, plasma osmotic pressure will be lowered by dilution, and an imbalance of the Starling equilibrium (equation 2) may induce further filtration. Albumin infusions, on the other hand, remain to a large degree in the plasma volume, maintaining colloid osmotic pressure while minimizing redistribution to the interstitium. The hyperoncotic albumin solution used in study II was shown to expand plasma volume to the same degree as the 18 times larger volume of saline. Clearly, lost plasma volume was reabsorbed from the interstitium. Probably the same mechanism tended to lower ICP in the albumin group, although this was not significant in this small study.

The K_i for albumin in cortical tissue after trauma (study I, Figure XX), was of the same magnitude as in normal skeletal muscle, implying that the colloid osmotic gradient can be preserved in the injured brain.

Our results on ICP and plasma volume expansion in study II suggest that large volumes of crystalloids may have detrimental effects on ICP in severe meningitis, and that hyperoncotic albumin can be used for volume resuscitation without adverse effects on ICP. To increase plasma volume to the same degree with 5% instead of 20% albumin, a four times larger volume would have been needed. In essence, this would be equivalent to parallel infusions of normal saline and 20% albumin. Would this have increased ICP compared to 20% albumin alone? Probably not by much. One could speculate that the extra saline would have remained in the plasma volume in replacement of the otherwise absorbed interstitial fluid. The trend towards a decrease in ICP would probably not be seen though, for the same reason. In a clinical setting, with continuous plasma volume losses for longer periods, the effect on brain oedema might be more pronounced.

The steadily increasing ICP in the saline group is compatible with an open blood-brain barrier, highly permeable to crystalloids but not to macromolecules. The balance between the transcapillary hydrostatic pressure and the colloid osmotic pressure will then govern fluid flow across the barrier. Our results are compatible with the effects of induced hypertension earlier reported on the same meningitis model (Kongstad and Grände, 2001).

The no fluid group deserves some extra comments. The plateau in ICP development should not be interpreted as a protective effect of fluid restriction, even though microdialysis data did not show any signs of ischaemia. The cats in the no fluid group were deteriorating the last hours of the experiment, with oliguria, tachycardia and progressive hypotension. It is reasonable to assume

significant hypoperfusion of splanchnic organs, and that cerebral ischaemia would eventually occur.

Albumin in neurocritical care

For decades the debate on colloid or crystalloid fluids for plasma volume expansion has roared. In 1998, a metaanalysis reported a 6% increase in absolute risk of death with the use of albumin (Cochrane, 1998), and practically overnight, the use of albumin in adult intensive care was banned. The results were refuted by a subsequent larger metaanalysis (Wilkes and Navickis, 2001). In 2004, the Saline versus Albumin Fluid Evaluation Study (SAFE) was presented, a randomized, multicentre study enrolling almost 7000 patients, where the investigators were able to blind the clinicians to the study fluid. Primary outcome was death within 28 days, and no difference was reported between the study groups for the whole cohort. (Finfer et al., 2004). In trauma patients, however, there was a trend towards higher mortality in the albumin group, and a post-hoc follow up study (SAFE-TBI) at 24 months of 460 brain trauma patients revealed an almost doubled relative risk of death in the albumin group (Myburgh et al., 2007).

The SAFE-TBI results have gained widespread acceptance, and albumin therapy in traumatic brain injury has been questioned by many authorities (Caironi and Gattinoni, 2009; Alderson et al., 2011; Hartog et al., 2011). But the SAFE-TBI has also been criticized on many grounds (Powner, 2011; Grände, 2008). It has been argued that the cohorts, although equal enough to pass statistical scrutiny, were not perfectly matched; the albumin group being slightly older, with slightly higher ICP on admission, and with a tendency of more severe head injury scores (Drummond et al., 2011; Grände, 2008). It is also evident from the data that the excess mortality in the albumin group was not caused by intracranial complications, and it has been suggested that not albumin itself, but in combination with pharmacologically induced supra-physiologic blood pressures may explain the outcome (Grände, 2008). Furthermore, several single centre outcome studies on the Lund concept, with albumin as an integer component of oedema therapy, have reported equal or better outcome than comparable centres (Eker et al., 1998; Naredi et al., 1998; Naredi et al., 2001; Rodling et al., 2005; Rodling et al., 2009). A randomized study from Japan on brain trauma patients showed improved outcome and decreased brain oedema with albumin therapy compared to standard care (Tomita et al., 1994). Albumin use is also supported by studies on stroke (Tone et al., 1994; Palesch et al., 2006) and subarachnoid haemorrhage (Suarez et al., 2004), as well as numerous animal studies on different brain insults (Belayev et al., 2001; Belyayev et al., 1999; Ginsberg et al., 1999). Hypoalbuminemia in brain trauma patients has also been associated with worse outcome (Bernard et al, 2008).

In summary, there are strong physiological arguments in favour of albumin use in brain trauma patients. The value of preclinical physiologically controlled

studies and of single centre cohort studies is sadly overlooked in larger metaanalyses.

Cerebrovascular protection (paper III and IV)

Prostacyclin

In study III we showed positive effects of low dose prostacyclin on ICP, plasma volume, and diuresis in cats with LPS induced meningitis. As in study II, no effects on brain metabolism were seen. Probably, the 10-hour observation period was too short for ischaemia to occur. The systemic recovery of plasma volume must be explained by a shift in the Starling equilibrium (equation 2). Two possible mechanisms may contribute to such an effect: a true reduction of permeability, as has been shown in cat skeletal muscle after trauma (Persson et al., 2003; Möller and Grände, 1999), or an effect on capillary hydrostatic pressure (Dubniks et al., 2007). Systemic blood pressure did not differ between the groups, but it could be speculated that the anti-inflammatory properties of prostacyclin may have restored some of the lost autoregulatory capacity. The positive effect on diuresis confirms clinical reports of improved renal function after prostacyclin treatment in cardiac surgery (Morgera et al., 2002). The improved diuresis could be explained as merely an effect of the increased plasma volume, but it is tempting to suggest improved microvascular function also in the kidneys (Nielsen et al., 1997; Finn et al., 1987).

The ICP data could also be explained by a reduced permeability, but a permeability effect of prostacylin has never been shown in brain circulation. On the contrary, prostacyclin, being a vasodilator and inhibitor of platelets, may increase the capillary surface area and thereby increase oedema and transfer of solutes (Bentzer et al., 2003). The lower ICP in the prostacyclin group may instead be explained by a lower hydrostatic capillary pressure. Again, it could be speculated that the anti-inflammatory effects of prostacyclin may have improved the myogenic autoregulatory response in precapillary sphincters. Further, vasoconstriction in response to prostacyclin has been shown *in vitro* in large cerebral arteries in the cat (Uski et al., 1983). The lower ICP may then be explained partly by an effect on blood volume and not on brain oedema alone. In piglets, on the other hand, prostacyclin appears to induce a marked vasodilation in LPS induced meningitis, with deleterious effects on cerebral haemodynamics and metabolism (Gärdenfors et al., 2004).

In summary, there seem to be important species differences in the effect of prostacyclin on cerebral vessels, and the results of our study should be interpreted cautiously. Low dose prostacyclin is currently sometimes used as an adjuvant to improve microcirculation in meningitis and traumatic brain injury (Grände, 2006), but always with continuous measurement of ICP. In trauma patients, there are case

reports supporting its use (Grände et al., 2000; Reinstrup and Nordström, 2011), and in a series of patients suffering from severe meningitis no adverse effects were found (Lindvall et al., 2004).

Rosuvastatin

As mentioned above, the drawback of capillary recruitment after brain trauma is the risk of increased transport of water and solutes over the increased capillary surface area, resulting in increased oedema and ICP. In that light, our result in study IV of increased capillary patency without adverse effect on K_i or oedema seems promising, and early effects on microvascular function by statin treatment may in part explain outcome effects reported by others (Chen et al., 2007; Lu et al., 2004; Lu et al., 2007). As hypothesized, we found evidence of increased NO availability after rosuvastatin, probably an effect of Rho kinase inhibition (Prinz and Endres, 2009). Theoretically, capillary recruitment in brain trauma can be referred to two mechanisms: decreased microvascular thrombosis and dilation of precapillary sphincters. Both mechanisms could involve NO stimulation.

The main source of substrate for endothelial prostacyclin synthase is considered to be COX-2 (McAdam et al, 1999). Given the promoting effects of statin treatment on COX-2 and PGI₂-synthase in models ischaemia/reperfusion injury (Birnbaum et al., 2007), we were expecting an increase also in prostacyclin. To our surprise, we found the opposite – a marked suppression of the metabolite PGF_{1-alpha}. Similar results have been reported in cell cultures and a model of atherosclerosis (Hernández-Prosa et al., 2002). Perhaps the diverging results depend on pathophysiological aspects of the models, or perhaps dose dependent statin effects on prostacyclin synthesis is not linear. Our dose was chosen to block HMG-CoA-reductase completely, and compared to other regimens reported in the literature it was in the high range ()

In the near future we will probably see clinical studies on statins as neuroprotectants, and perhaps also in other critical illnesses. A word of caution is warranted though: it is inconceivable to imagine solely salutary effects of blocking a rate-limiting synthetic step affecting such a multitude of cellular functions. The safety profile of statins in the critically ill may very well differ from the general public. For instance, co-enzyme Q10, an essential part of complex 1 in the mitochondrial electron transport chain, is also a mevalonate pathway intermediate (Hargreaves et al., 2005), and it is reduced by statin treatment. This could theoretically be harmful in an intensive care setting (Donnini et al., 2011).

Blood-brain barrier in human brain trauma (V)

There is ample evidence from animal models of traumatic brain injury that increased permeability of the blood-brain barrier coincides with the development of brain oedema (Jungner et al., 2010; Bentzer et al., 2003; Lundblad et al., 2004; Tanno et al., 1992). There are also strong proponents for the view that post-

traumatic brain oedema is mainly cellular and that the opening of the blood-brain barrier is transient and of little importance (Barzó et al., 1997; Stroop et al., 1998). Little is known about the blood-brain barrier function in human brain trauma and the contribution of cellular and extracellular oedema to post traumatic brain swelling and intracranial hypertension. It is reasonable to state that both types coexist and should be considered in the care of patients. In our material we could show a pattern compatible with picture from from animal studies, with early and sustained increase in small molecular permeability. The methodology was, however, a bit too cumbersome and time consuming to fit into clinical practice, where time often is limitied. Recent upgrades at the department of radiology has made it possible to calculate K_i with commercially available software and with much shorter scan time. Perhaps in the future a "CT perfusion and permeability" can predict the risk of brain oedema development.

Conclusions

In animal models of brain trauma and meningitis, volume expansion with crystalloids promote brain oedema by diffusion into the interstitium and by favouring transvascular filtration by diluting the colloid osmotic pressure in plasma. Volume expansion with albumin infusions is safe with regard to oedema development and intracranial pressure in these experimental settings.

Experimental brain trauma induces a large increase in blood-brain barrier permeability to small solutes, whereas macromolecular permeability remains low enough for a sustained colloid osmotic gradient across the capillaries.

Infusion of prostacyclin in experimental meningitis counteracts systemic plasma volume losses and diminishes intracranial hypertension, probably because of reduced permeability or reduced capillary pressure.

Treatment with rosuvastatin after experimental brain trauma increases cortical capillary patency. The effect is associated with increased bioavailability of nitric oxide.

In human brain trauma, permeability changes of the blood-brain barrier in pericontusional tissue are detectable with the use of contrast-enhanced computerized tomography.

Acknowledgements and grants

I am forever grateful to all those who have helped and inspired me during my struggles with this thesis. Thank you all!

Peter Bentzer, my supervisor, scientific mentor, colleague and friend, for neverfailing support and enthusiasm, in good times and in bad.

Per-Olof Grände, my co-supervisor, guiding star in physiology, and friend, for welcoming me to the laboratory, for sharing your vast knowledge of physiology and intensive care, and for all those moments of clarity (or despair!) over manuscripts and sometimes ill-mannered data.

Co-workers and co-writers: Helén Axelberg, for all the rats and cats, for laughs and friendship, and for always opening the door when my access card and mind were elsewhere. Citty Wikstrand, for the preparations of the cats, and for hundreds of small administrative things. Cornelia Lundblad, for your good spirits and for all your help with capillaries, blood flows and ELISAs, and for all discussions on physiology and non-physiology. Daniele Ventoruli, Italian friend and mathemagician, for thoughtful conversations on life and permeability and Mac/PC incompatibility. Roger Siemund, for invaluable help with study V. Peter Reinstrup, for recruiting most of the trauma patients in study V, and for so generously sharing everything you know about. Gustav Mattiasson, for scoring rats on short notice, and for clear-sighted input on study I.

Predecessors at the lab: Johan Persson, for paving the way. At every crossroads of my career so far, you have been there, pointing out the direction. Maris Dubniks, for inspiring conversations on jazz and plasma volumes.

The Rippe group, our physical and physiological neighbours: Bengt, Anna, and Catarina Rippe, Josefin Axelsson, Daniel Asgeirsson, and Bert-Inge Rosengren for insights in pore physiology and for good laughs over coffee.

Mikael Bodelsson, for introducing me to anaesthesiology many years ago and for all your enthusiastic support – and not least for pointing me to *Vasholmarna*.

Eva Ranklev-Twetman, Görel Nergelius, and Bengt Roth; past or present heads of the Department of Anaesthesia and Intensive Care, for encouragement through the years of clinical and scientific training.

Colleagues and staff at the department through the years, each and every one of you, for making even early mornings and late nights at work bright.

Friends, near and far, for life outside the lab (lately neglected, but the future is bright).

Ulla Holst, my mother-in-law, for tactful abstinence of statistical interference, and for taking such good care of your grandchildren.

My parents Olle and Gunilla, for always believing in me. My brothers with families: Ossian, Ulrika, Simon and Sophie; Björn, Lisa and Frida.

My Åsa, my love and best friend, for being there, for being you. David, Jakob, and Johanna, the bright lights of my life, for all the smiles and hugs.

Grants

The studies presented in this thesis were made possible through grants from Region Skåne (ALF), the Swedish Research Council, the Medical Faculty of Lund University, and the Anna and Edwin Berger Foundation. Rosuvastatin was a kind gift from Astra-Zeneca, London, UK.

References

Abbott NJ, Rönnbäck L, and Hansson E (2006). Astrocyte–endothelial interactions at the blood–brain barrier. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 7, 41–53.

Adam O and Laufs U (2008). Antioxidative effects of statins. Arch Toxicol 82, 885-892.

Alderson P, Bunn F, Li Wan Po A, Li L, Blackhall K, Roberts I, and Schierhout G (2011). Human albumin solution for resuscitation and volume expansion in critically ill patients. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* Issue 10. Art. No.: CD001208. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD001208.pub3

Arikan AA, Zappitelli M, Goldstein SL, Naipaul A, Jefferson LS, and Loftis LL (2011). Fluid overload is associated with impaired oxygenation and morbidity in critically ill children. *Pediatr Crit Care Med* Jul 14, Epub ahead of print

Bansch P, Nelson A, Ohlsson T and Bentzer P (2011). Effect of charge on microvascular permeability in early experimental sepsis in the rat. *Microvasc Res* 82, 339–45.

Barzó P, Marmarou A, Fatouros P, Hayasaki K and Corwin F (1997). Biphasic pathophysiological response of vasogenic and cellular edema in traumatic brain swelling. *Acta Neurochi Suppl* (Wien) 70, 119–122.

Belayev L, Alonso OF, Huh PW, Zhao W, Busto R, Ginsberg MD (1999). Posttreatment with highdose albumin reduces histopathological damage and improves neurological deficit following fluid percussion brain injury in rats. *J Neurotrauma* 16, 445–53.

Belayev L, Liu Y, Zhao W, Busto R, and Ginsberg MD (2001). Human albumin therapy of acute ischemic stroke: marked neuroprotective efficacy at moderate doses and with a broad therapeutic window. *Stroke* 32, 553–560.

Bentzer P, Mattiasson G, McIntosh TK, Wieloch T, Grände PO (2001). Infusion of prostacyclin following experimental brain njury in the rat reduces cortical lesion volume. *J Neurotrauma* 18, 275–85.

Bentzer P, Venturoli D, Carlsson O, Grände PO (2003). Low-Dose Prostacyclin Improves Cortical Perfusion following Experimental Brain Injury in the Rat. *J Neurotrauma* 20, 447–461.

Bernard F, Al-Tamimi YZ, Chatfield D, Lynch AG, Matta BF, and Menon DK (2008). Serum Albumin Level as a Predictor of Outcome in Traumatic Brain Injury: Potential for Treatment. *J Trauma* 64, 872–875.

Béziaud T, Ru Chen X, Shafey El N, Frechou M, Teng F, Palier B, Beray V, Soustrat M, Margaill I, Plotkine M, Marchand.Leroux Cand Besson V (2011) Simvastatin in traumatic brain injury: Effect on brain edema mechanisms. *Crit Care Med* 39, 2300–2307.

Birnbaum Y, Lin Y, Ye Y, Martinez JD, Huang M-H, Lui CY, Perez-Polo JR, and Uretsky BF (2007). Aspirin before reperfusion blunts the infarct size limiting effect of atorvastatin. *Am J Physiol: Heart Circ Physiol* 292, H2891–H2897.

Blanco M, Nombela F, Castellanos M, Rodriguez-Yáñez M, García-Gil M, Leira R, Lizasoain I, Serena J, Vivancos J, Moro MA, Dávalos A, and Castillo J. (2007). Statin treatment withdrawal in ischemic stroke: a controlled randomized study. *Neurology* 69, 904–910

Blasberg, R.G., Patlak, C.S., and Fenstermacher J.D. (1983). Selection of experimental conditions for the accurate determination of blood-brain transfer constants from single-time experiments: a theoretical analysis. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab* 3, 215-25.

Bloch O, Manley GT (2003). The role of aquaporin-4 in cerebral water transport and edema. *Neurosurg Focus* 22(5), E3.

Booy R, Habibi P, Nadel S, de Munter C, Britto J, Morrison A, and Levin M (2001). Reduction in case fatality rate from meningococcal disease associated with improved healthcare delivery. *Archives of Disease in Childhood* 85, 386–390.

Brunkhorst FM, Englel C, Bloos F, Meier-Hellmann A, Ragaller M, Weiler N, Moerer O, Gruendling M, Oppert M, Grond S, Olthoff D, Jaschinski U, John S, Rossaint R, Welte T, Schaefer M, Kern P, Kuhnt E, Kiehntopf M, Hartog C, Natanson C, Loeffler M, Reinhart K (2008). Intensive insulin therapy and pentastarch resuscitation in severe sepsis. *N Engl J Med* 358, 125–39.

Bruns J and Hauser WA (2003). The epidemiology of traumatic brain injury: a review, *Epilepsia* 44 (Suppl 10), 2–10.

Bundgaard-Nielsen M, Holte K, Secher NH, and Kehlet H (2007). Monitoring of perioperative fluid administration by individualized goal-directed therapy. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand.* 51, 331–340.

Caironi P and Gattinoni L (2009). The clinical use of albumin: the point of view of a specialist in intensive care. *Blood Transfus* 7, 259–267.

Chen G, Zhang S, Shi J, Ai J, Qi M, and Hang C (2009). Simvastatin reduces secondary brain injury caused by cortical contusion in rats: Possible involvement of TLR4/NF-κB pathway. *Experimental Neurology* 216, 398–406.

Chen H-H, Chen T-W, and Lin H (2009). Prostacyclin-induced peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-alpha translocation attenuates NF-kappaB and TNF-alpha activation after renal ischemia-reperfusion injury. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* 297, F1109–18.

Chen, S., Hung, T., Chen, C., Lin, K., Huang, Y., Tsai, H., and Wang, J. (2007). Lovastatin improves histological and functional outcomes and reduces inflammation after experimental traumatic brain injury. *Life Sci.* 81, 288-298.

Chesnut RM, Marshall SB, Piek J, Blunt BA, Klauber MR, and Marshall LF (1993). Early and late systemic hypotension as a frequent and fundamental source of cerebral ischemia following severe brain injury in the Traumatic Coma Data Bank. *Acta Neurochir Suppl* (Wien) 59, 121–125.

Cipolla MJ, Gokina NI, and Osol G (2002). Pressure-induced actin polymerization in vascular smooth muscle as a mechanism underlying myogenic behavior. *FASEB J* 16, 72–76

Clifton GL (2011) A Review of Clinical Trials of Hypothermia Treatment for Severe Traumatic Brain Injury. *Therapeutic Hypothermia and Temperature* 1, 143–149.

Clifton GL, Miller ER, Choi SC, Levin HS (2002). Fluid thresholds and outcome from severe brain injury. *Crit Care Med* 30, 739–745.

Cochrane Injuries Group Albumin Reviewers (1998). Human albumin administration in critically ill patients: systematic review of randomised controlled trials. *Brit Med J* 317, 235-40.

Cunningham AS, Salvador R, Coles JP, Chatfield DA, Bradley PG, Johnston AJ, Steiner LA, Fryer TD, Aigbirhio FI, Smielexski P, Williams GB, Carpenter TA, Gillard JH, Pickard JD, and Menon DK (2005). Physiological thresholds for irreversible tissue damage in contusional regions following traumatic brain injury. Brain 128, 1931–42.

Czosnyka M, Smielewski P, Kirkpatrick P, Menon DK, and Pickard JD (1996). Monitoring of cerebral autoregulation in head-injured patients. *Stroke* 27, 1829–1834.

de Gans J and van de Beek D (2002). Dexamethasone in adults with bacterial meningitis. N Engl J Med 347, 1549–1556.

Donnino MW, Cocchi MN, Salciccioli JD, Kim D, Naini AB, Buettner C, and Akuthota P (2011). Coenzyme Q10 levels are low and may be associated with the inflammatory cascade in septic shock. *Crit Care* 15, R189.

Drummond JC, Patel PM, and Lemkuil B (2011). Proscribing the Use of Albumin in the Head-Injured Patient Is Not Warranted. *Anesth Analg* 113, 426–427.

Drummond JC, Patel PM, Cole DJ, and Kelly PJ (1998). The effect of the reduction of colloid oncotic pressure, with and without reduction of osmolality, on post-traumatic cerebral edema. *Anesthesiology* 88, 993–1002.

Dubniks M, Persson J, and Grände PO (2007). Effect of blood pressure on plasma volume loss in the rat under increased permeability. *Intensive Care Med* 33, 2192–2198.

Duke T and Molyneux (2003). Intravenous fluids for seriously ill children: time to reconsider. *The Lancet* 362, 1320–1323.

Eker C, Asgeirsson B, Grände PO, Schalen W, Nordström CH (1998). Improved outcome after severe head injury with a new therapy based on principles for brain volume regulation and preserved microcirculation. *Crit Care Med* 26:1881–1886.

Faden AI (2001). Neuroprotection and traumatic brain injury: the search continues. *Arch Neurol* 58, 1553–1555.

Faraci FM and Heistad DD (1998). Regulation of the cerebral circulation: role of endothelium and potassium channels. *Physiol Rev* 78, 53–97.

Fenstermacher J.D. (1984). Volume regulation of the central nervous system. In: *Edema*. NC Staub and AE Taylor (eds). Raven Press: NY, pp 384–391.

Fenstermacher JD, Blasberg RG, and Patlak CS (1981). Methods for Quantifying the transport of drugs across brain barrier systems. *Pharmacol Ther* 14, 217–248.

Finfer S, Bellomo R, Boyce N, French J, Myburgh J, and Norton R. A comparison of albumin and saline for fluid resuscitation in the intensive care unit. *N Engl J Med* 350, 2247–2256.

Finn WF, Hak LJ, and Grossman SH (1987). Protective effect of prostacyclin on postischemic acute renal failure in the rat. *Kidney Int* 32, 479–487.

Fiskum G (2000). Mitochondrial participation in ischemic and traumatic neural cell death. J Neurotrauma 17, 843–55.

Fitzgerald GA, Pedersen AK, and Patrono C (1983). Analysis of prostacyclin and thromboxane biosynthesis in cardiovascular disease. *Circulation* 67, 1174–1177.

Flexner S (1913). The results of the serum treatment in thirteen hundred cases of epidemic meningitis. *J Exp Med* 17, 553–76

Galley HT and Webster NR (2004). Physiology of the endothelium. Br J Anaesth 93, 105-113.

Gärdenfors F, Nilsson A, Ungerstedt U, Nordstrom CH (2004). Adverse biochemical and physiological effects of prostacyclin in experimental brain oedema. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand* 48, 1316–1321.

Giebisch G and Windhager E (2003). Integration of salt and water balance. In: Medical physiology. WF Boron and EL Boulpep (eds). Saunders: Philadelphia, pp 861–876.

Ginsberg MD, Shao W, and Belyayev L (2001). Diminuation of metabolism/blood flow uncoupling following traumatic brain injury in rats in response to high-dose human albumin treatment. *J Neurosurg* 94, 499–509.

Grände P-O (2008). Time out for albumin or a valuable therapeutic component in severe head injury? *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand* 52, 738–741.

Grände PO, Möller AD, Nordstrom CH, and Ungerstedt U (2000). Low-dose prostacyclin in treatment of severe brain trauma evaluated with microdialysis and jugular bulb oxygen measurements. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand* 44, 886–894.

Grant GA, Abbott NJ, and Janigro D (1998). Understanding the Physiology of the Blood-Brain Barrier: In Vitro Models. *News Physiol Sci* 13, 287–293.

Grimwood K, Anderson P, Anderson V, Tan L and Nolan T (2000). Twelve year outcomes following bacterial meningitis: further evidence for persisting effects. *Arch Dis Child* 83, 111–16.

Grotte G, (1956). Passage of dextran molecules across the blood-lymph barrier. *Acta Chir Scand Suppl* 211:1–84.

Gurney KJ, Estrada EY, and Rosenberg GA (2006). Blood–brain barrier disruption by stromelysin-1 facilitates neutrophil infiltration in neuroinflammation. Neurobiology of Disease 23, 87–96.

Guyton AC and Hall JE (2000). The microcirculation and the lymphatic system: capillary fluid exchange, interstitial fluid, and lymph flow. In: Guyton AC, Hall JE (eds). Textbook of medical physiology. 10th edition. WB Saunders Co: Philadephia, pp 162–174.

Hargreaves IP, Duncan AJ, Heales SJ, and Land JM (2005). The effect of HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors on coenzyme Q10: possible biochemical/clinical implications. *Drug Saf* 28, 659-676.

Hartog CS, Bauer M, and Reinhart K (2011). The Efficacy and Safety of Colloid Resuscitation in the Critically III. *Anesth Analg* 112, 156–164.

Hartsock A, Nelson WJ (2008) Adherens and tight junctions: structure, function and connections to the actin cytoskeleton. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1778, 660–669.

Hawkins BT (2005). The Blood-Brain Barrier/Neurovascular Unit in Health and Disease. *Pharmacological Reviews* 57, 173–185.

Heistad DD, Marcus ML and Abboud FM (1978). Role of large arteries in regulation of cerebral blood flow in dogs. *J Clin Invest* 62, 761–768.

Hekmatpanah J and Hekmatpanah CR. (1985). Microvascular alterations following cerebral contusion in rats. Light, scanning, and electron microscope study. *J Neurosurg* 62, 888–897.

Helmy A, De Simoni MG, Guilfoyle MR, Carpenter KLH, Hutchinson (2011). Cytokines and innate inflammation in the pathogenesis of human traumatic brain injury. *Progress in Neurobiology* 95, 352–372.

Hillman J, Åneman O, Anderson C, Sjögren F, Säberg C, and Mellergård P (2005). A microdialysis technique for routine measurement of macromolecules in the injured human brain. *Neurosurg* 56, 1264–8.

Hillman K, Bishop G, Brstow P (1997). The crystalloid versus colloid controversy: present status. In: Plasma volume support, H Haljamäe (ed). Baillière Tindall: Oxford, pp 1–13.

Hlatky R, Goodman JC, Valadka AB and Robertson CS (2003). Role of Nitric Oxide in Cerebral Blood Flow Abnormalities After Traumatic Brain Injury. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab* 23, 582–588.

Holbeck S (2006). Cellulärt och mikrovaskulärt vätskeutbyte. In: Vätsketerapi, H Hjelmqvist and H Haljamäe (eds). Liber AB, Stockholm, pp 18–26.

Hollenberg SM and Cunnion RE (1994). Endothelial and smooth muscle funciotns in sepsis. J Crit Care 9, 262–280.

Hyder AA, Wunderlich CA, Puvanachandra P, Gururaj G, Kobusingye OC (2007). The impact of traumatic brain injuries: a global perspective. *NeuroRehabilitation* 22, 341–353.

Imm A and Carlsson RW (1993). Fluid resuscitation in circulatory chock. *Crit Care Clin* 9, 313–333.

Jungner M, Bentzer P, and Grände P-O (2009). Prostacyclin reduces elevation of intracranial pressure and plasma volume loss in lipopolysaccharide-induced meningitis in the cat. *J Trauma* 67, 1345–1351.

Jungner M, Grände P-O, Mattiasson G, and Bentzer P. Effects on brain edema of crystalloid and albumin fluid resuscitation after brain trauma and hemorrhage in the rat. *Anesthesiology* 112, 1194–1203.

Kaieda R, Todd MM, and Warner DS (1989a). Prolonged reduction in colloid oncotic pressure does not increase brain edema following cryogenic injury in rabbits. *Anesthesiology* 71, 554–60.

Kaieda R, Todd MM, Cook LN, and Warner DS (1989b). Acute effects ofchanging plasma osmolality and colloid oncotic pressure on the formation of brain edema after cryogenic injury. *Neurosurgery* 24, 671–678

Kedem O and Katchalsky A (1958). Thermodynamic analysis of the permeability of biological membranes to non-electrolytes. *Biochem Biophys Acta* 27, 229–246.

Kim KS (2010). Acute bacterial meningitis in infants and children. Lancet Infect Dis 10, 32-42.

Kimelberg H (2004). Water homeostasis in the brain: Basic concepts. Neuroscience 129, 851-860.

Kirchhoff C, Buhmann S, Braunstein V, Leidel BA, Vogel T,

Koedel U, Klein M, Pfister HW (2010). New understandings on the pathophysiology of bacterial meningitis. *Curr Opin Infect Dis* 23, 217–223.

Koedel U, Scheld WM, and Pfister H-W (2002). Pathogenesis and pathophysiology of pneumococcal meningitis. *Lancet Infect Dis* 2, 721–736.

Kokoska ER, Smith GS, Pittman T, Weber TR (1998). Early hypotension worsens neurological outcome in pediatric patients with moderately severe head trauma. *J Pediatr Surg* 33, 333–338.

Kongstad L and Grände PO (2001). Arterial hypertension increases intracranial pressure in cat after opening of the blood-brain barrier. *J Trauma* 251, 490–496.

Kreimeier U, Mutschler W, and Biberthaler P (2008). Cerebrospinal S100-B: A potential marker for progressive intracranial hemorrhage in patients with severe traumatic brain injury. *Eur J Med Res* 24, 511–516

Krizbai IA, Lenzser G, Szatmari E, Farkas AE, Wilhelm I, Fekete Z, Erdos B, Bauer H, Bauer, HC, Sandor P, and Komjati K (2005). Blood-brain barrier changes during compensated and decompensated hemorrhagic shock. *Shock*. 24, 428–433.

Kuschinsky W, and Paulson OB (1992). Capillary circulation in the brain. *Cerebrovasc Brain Metab Rev* 4, 261–286.

Lamke LO and Liljedahl SO (1976). Plasma volume changes after infusion of various plasma expanders. *Resuscitation* 5, 93–102.

Laufs U, Endres M, Custodis F, Gertz K, Nickenig G, Liao JK and Böhm M (2000). Suppression of endothelial nitric oxide production after withdrawal of statin treatment is mediated by negative feedback regulation of rho GTPase gene transcription. *Circulation* 102, 3104–3110.

Laufs U, Gertz K, Huang P, Nickenig G, Böhm M, Dirnagl U, and Endres M (2000). Atorvastatin upregulates type III nitric oxide synthase in thrombocytes, decreases platelet activation, and protects from cerebral ischemia in normocholesterolemic mice. Stroke 31, 2442–2449.

Lescot T, Degos V, Zouaoui A, Pr teux FO, Coriat P, and Puybasset L (2006). Opposed effects of hypertonic saline on contusions and noncontused brain tissue in patients with severe traumatic brain injury. *Crit Care Med* 34, 3029–3033.

Levick JR (2000). Solute transport between blood and tissue In: *Cardiovascular physiology*, 3rd edition. JR Levick (ed). Arnold: London, pp 176–200.

Levick JR and Michel CC (2010). Microvascular fluid exchange and the revised Starling principle. *Cardiovasc Res* 87, 198–210.

Li B, Mahmood A, Lu D, Wu H, Xiong Y, Qu C, and Chopp M (2009). Simvastatin attenuates microglial cells and astrocyte activation and decreases interleukin-1B level after traumatic brain injury. Neurosurgery 65, 179–186.

Lindvall P, Ahlm C, Ericsson M, Gothefors L, Naredi S, and Koskinen LOD (2004). Reducing Intracranial Pressure May Increase Survival among Patients with Bacterial Meningitis. *Clin Infect Dis* 38, 384–390.

Loane DJ and Faden AI (2010). Neuroprotection for traumatic brain injury: translational challenges and emerging therapeutic strategies. *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences* 31, 596–604.

Lu D, Mahmood A, Goussev A, Schallert T, Qu C, Zhang ZG, Li Y, Lu M and Chopp M (2004). Atorvastatin reduction of intravascular thrombosis, increase in cerebral microvascular patency and integrity, and enhancement of spatial learning in rats subjected to traumatic brain injury. *J Neurosurg* 101, 813–821.

Lu D, Qu C, Goussev A, Jiang H, Lu C, Schallert T, Mahmood A, Chen J, Li Y, and Chopp Micheal (2007). Statins Increase Neurogenesis in the Dentate Gyrus, Reduce Delayed Neuronal Death in the Hippocampal CA3 Region, and Improve Spatial Learning in Rat after Traumatic Brain Injury. *J Neurotrauma* 24, 1132–1146.

Lundblad C and Bentzer P (2007). Effects of l-arginine on cerebral blood flow, microvascular permeability, number of perfused capillaries, and brain water content in the traumatized mouse brain. *Microvasc Res* 74, 1–8.

Lundblad C, Grände P-O, and Bentzer P (2007). Increased cortical cell loss and prolonged hemodynamic depression after traumatic brain injury in mice lacking the IP receptor for prostacyclin. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab* 28, 367–376.

Lundblad C, Grände PO and Bentzer P (2004). A Mouse Model for Evaluation of Capillary Perfusion, Microvascular Permeability, Cortical Blood Flow, and Cortical Edema in the Traumatized Brain. *J Neurotrauma* 21, 741–753.

Lynch JR, Wang H, McGirt MJ, Floyd J, Friedman AH, Coon AL, Blessing R, Alexander MJ, Graffagnino C, Warner DS, and Laskowitz DT (2005). Simvastatin reduces vaso- spasm after

aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: results of a pilot randomized clinical trial. *Stroke* 36, 2024–2026.

Maconochie IK, Baumer JH, and Stewart M (2008). Fluid therapy for acute bacterial meningitis. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*: CD004786

Mahmood A, Goussev A, Kazmi H, Qu C, Lu D, and Chopp M (2009). Long-term benefit safter treatment of traumatic brain injury with simvastatin in rats. *Neurosurgery* 65, 187–192.

Mahmood A, Goussev A, Kazmi H, Qu C, Lu D, and Chopp M. Long-term benefit safter treatment of traumatic brain injury with simvastatin in rats. *Neurosurgery* 65, 187–192.

Margarson MP, and Soni NC (2005). Plasma volume measurement in septic patients using an albumin dilution technique: comparison with the standard radio-labelled albumin method. *Intensive Care Med.* 31, 289–295.

Marmarou A (2007). A review of progress in understanding the pathophysiology and treatment of brain edema. *Neurosurg Focus* 22(5), E1.

Marmarou A, Fatourous PP, Barzó P, Portella G, Yoshihara M, Tsuji O, Yamamoto T, Laine F, Signoretti S, Ward JD, Bullock MR, and Young HF (2000). Contribution of edema and cerebral blood volume to traumatic brain swelling in head-injured patients. *J Neurosurg* 93, 183–193.

Marmarou A, Signoretti S, Fatouros PP, Portella G, Aygok GA, and Bullock MR (2006). Predominance of cellular edema in traumatic brain swelling in patients with severe head injuries. *J Neurosurg* 104, 720–730.

Marx G (2003). Fluid therapy in sepsis with capillary leakage. Eur J Anaesthesiol 20, 429-442.

Matter K and Balda MS (2003) Signalling to and from tight junctions. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 4, 225–236.

Matter K and Balda MS (2007) Epithelial tight junctions, gene expression and nucleo-junctional interplay. *J Cell Sci* 120, 1505–1511.

McAdam BF, Catella-Lawson JS, Mardini IA, Kapoor S, Lawson, JA, and FitzGerald GA (1999). Systemic biosynthesis of prostacyclin by cyclooxygenase (COX)-2: The human pharmacology of a selective inhibitor of COX-2. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 96, 272–277.

McIntosh TK, Vink R, Noble L, Yamakami I, Fernyak S, Soares H, and Faden AL (1989). Traumatic brain injury in the rat: Characterization of a lateral fluid-percussion model. *Neuroscience* 28, 233–244.

McIntyre PB, Berkey CS, King SM, Schaad UB, Kilpi T, Kanra GY, and Perz CM (1997). Dexamethasone as adjunctive therapy in bacterial meningitis: a meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials since 1988. *J Am Med Assoc* 278, 925-931.

Mellander SM, Maspers M, Björnberg J, and Andersson LO (1987). Autoregulation of capillary pressure and filtration in cat skeletal muscle in states of normal and reduced vascular tone. *Acta Physiol Scand* 129, 337–351.

Michel CC and Curry FE (1999). Microvascular permeability. Physiol Rev 79, 703-761.

Miller JD, Becker DP, Ward JD, Sullivan HG, Adams WE, and Rosner MJ (1977). Significance of intracranial hypertension in severe head injury. *J Neurosurg* 47, 503–516.

Miller JD, Sweet RC, Narayan R, and Becker DP (1978). Early insults to the injured brain. J Am Med Assoc 240, 439–442.

Möller A and Grände PO (1999). The role of prostacyclin and nitric oxide in regulation of basal microvascular hydraulic permeability in cat skeletal muscle. *J Vasc Res* 36, 245–252

Møller K, Larsen FS, Bie P, and Skinhøj P (2001). The syndrome of inappropriate secretion of antidiuretic hormone and fluid restriction in meningitis--how strong is the evidence? *Scand J Infect Dis* 33, 13–26.

Moncada S (1997). Nitric oxide in the vasculature: physiology and pathophysiology. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 811, 60–67.

Montaner J, Chacón P, Krupinski J, Rubio F, Millán M, Molina CA, Hereu P, Quintana M, and Alvarez-Sabín J (2008). Simvastatin in the acute phase of ischemic stroke: a safety and efficacy pilot trial. *Eur J Neurol* 15, 82–90.

Morgera S, Woydt R, Kern H, Schmutzler M, DeJonge K, Lun A, Rohde W, Konertz W, Kox WJ, and Neumayer HH. (2002). Low-dose prostacyclin preserves renal function in high-risk patients after coronary bypass surgery. *Crit Care Med* 30, 107–112.

Myburgh J, Cooper J, Finfer S, Bellomo R, Norton R, Bishop N, Kai Lo S, and Vallance S (2007). Saline or albumin for fluid resuscitation in patients with traumatic brain injury. *N Engl J Med* 357, 874–884

Naredi S, Eden E, Zall S, Stephensen H, Rydehag B (1998). A standardized neurosurgical neurointensive therapy directed toward vasogenic edema after severe traumatic brain injury: clinical results. *Intensive Care Med* 24, 446–451.

Naredi S, Olivercrona M, Lindgren C, Östlund AL, Grände PO, Koskinen LOD (2001). An outcome study on severe traumatic head injury using the "Lund therapy" with low-dose prostacyclin. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand* 45, 402–406.

Nielsen CB, Bech JN, and Pederson EB (1997). Effects of prostacyclin on renal haemodynamics, renal tubular function and vasoactive hormones in healthy humans. A placebo-controlled dose-response study. *Br J Clin Pharmacol* 44, 471–476.

Palesch YY, Hill MD, Ryckborst KJ, Tamariz D, Ginsberg MD (2006). The ALIAS Pilot Trial: a dose-escalation and safety study of albumin therapy for acute ischemic stroke: II. Neurologic outcome and efficacy analysis. *Stroke* 37, 2107–2114.

Pappenheimer JR, Renkin EM, and Borrero LM (1951). Filtration, diffusion and molecular sieving through peripheral capillary membranes: a contribution to the pore theory of capillary permeability. *Am J Physiol* 167, 13–46.

PappenheimerJR and Soto-Rivera A (1948). Effective osmotic pressure of the plasma proteins and other quantities associated with the capillary circulation in the hindlimbs of cats and dogs. *Am J Physiol* 152: 471–491.

Parker LC, Prince LR, and Sabroe I (2007). Translational mini-review series on Toll-like receptors: networks regulated by Toll-like receptors mediate innate and adaptive immunity. *Clin Exp Immunol* 147, 199–207.

Patel HC, Bouamra O, Woodford M, King AT, Yates DW, Lecky FE (2005). Trends in head injury outcome from 1989 to 2003 and the effect of neurosurgical care. An observational study. *Lancet* 366, 1538–1544.

Patel HC, Menon DK, Tebbs S, Hawker R, Hutchinson PJ, and Kirkpatrick PJ (2002). Specialist neurocritical care and outcome from head injury. *Intensive Care Med* 28, 547–553

Patlak CS, Blasberg RG, and Fenstermacher JD (1983). Graphical evaluation of blood-to-brain transfer constants from multiple-time uptake data. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab* 3, 1–7.

Pedersen M, Brandt CT, Knudsen GM, Ostergaard C, Skinhøj P, Skovsted IC, Frimodt-Møller N, and Møller K., (2007). The effect of S. pneumoniae bacteremia on cerebral blood flow autoregulation in rats. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab* 28, 126–134.

Pedersen TR, Kjekshus J, Berg K, Haghfelt T, Faergeman O, Thorgeirsson G, Pyörälä K, Miettinen T, Wilhelmsen L, Olsson AG, and Wedel H (1994). Randomised trial of cholesterol lowering in 4444 patients with coronary heart disease: the Scandinavian Simvastatin Survival Study (4S). *Lancet* 344, 1383–1389.

Persson J and Grände PO (2005). Volume expansion of albumin, gelatin, hydroxyethyl starch, saline and erythrocytes after haemorrhage in the rat. *Intensive Care Med* 31, 296–301.

Persson J and Grände PO (2006). Plasma volume expansion and transcapillary fluid exchange in skeletal muscle of albumin, dextan, gelatin, hydroxyethyl starch, and saline after trauma in the cat. *Crit Care Med* 34, 2456–2462.

Persson J, Ekelund U, and Grände PO (2003). Endogenous Nitric Oxide Reduces Microvascular Permeability and Tissue Oedema during Exercise in Cat Skeletal Muscle. *J Vasc Res* 40, 538–546.

Persson J, Ekelund U, Grände PO (2003). Nitric oxide and prostacyclin play a role in the regulation of microvascular protein and hydraulic permeability in cat skeletal muscle. *Microcirculation* 10, 233–243.

Pollard AJ, Nadel S, Ninis N, Faust SN, and Levin M (2007). Emergency management of meningococcal disease: eight years on. *Arch Dis Child* 92, 283–286.

Powner DJ (2011). In My Opinion: Serum Albumin Should be Maintained During Neurocritical Care. *Neurocrit Care* 14, 482–488.

Preston E and Foster DO (1997). Evidence for pore-like opening of the blood-brain barrier following forebrain ischemia in rats. *Brain Res* 761, 4–10.

Prinz V and Endres M (2009). The acute (cerebro)vascular effects of statins. *Anesth Analg* 109, 572–584.

Rangel-Castilla L, Gasco J, Nauta HJ, Okonkwo DO, and Robertson CS (2008). Cerebral pressure autoregulation in traumatic brain injury. *Neurosurg Focus*. 25, 1–8.

Reinstrup P and Nordström CH (2011). Prostacyclin infusion may prevent secondary damage in pericontusional brain tissue. *Neurocrit Care* 14, 441–446.

Reuter DA, Felbinger TW, Kilger E, Schmidt C, Lamm P, and Goetz AE (2002). Optimizing fluid therapy in mechanically ventilated patients after cardiac surgery by on-line monitoring of left ventricular stroke volume variations. Comparison with aortic systolic pressure variations. *British Journal of Anaesthesia* 88, 124–126.

Rikitake Y. Rho GTPases, Statins, and Nitric Oxide. Circ Res 2005;97(12):1232-1235.

Rippe B and Haraldsson B (1994). Transport of macromolecules across microvascular walls: the two-pore theory. *Physiol Rev* 74, 163–219.

Rippe B, Rosengren BI, Carlsson O and Venturoli D (2002). Transendothelial transport: the vesicle controversy. *J Vasc Res* 39, 375-390.

Robertson CS, Gopinath SP, Valadka AB, Swank PR, and Goodman JC (2011). Variants of the endothelial nitric oxid gene and cerebral blood flow after severe traumatic injury. *J Neurotrauma* 28,727-737.

Rodling Wahlström M, Olivecrona M, Koskinen LO, Rydenhag B, and Naredi S (2005). Severe traumatic brain injury in pediatric patients: treatment and outcome using an intracranial pressure targeted therapy – the Lund concept. *Intensive Care Med* 31, 832–839.

Rodling Wahlström M, Olivecrona M, Nyström F, Koskinen LO, and Naredi S (2009). Fluid therapy and the use of albumin in the treatment of severe traumatic brain injury. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand* 53, 18–25.

Saezllorens X and McCracken JR G (2003). Bacterial meningitis in children. *The Lancet* 361, 2139–2148.

Sakurada O, Kennedy C, Jehle J, Brown JD, Carbin GL, and Sokoloff, L (1978). Measurement of local cerebral bloodflow with [¹⁴C]iodoantipyrine. *Am J Physiol* 234, H59–66.

Scheld WM, Koedel U, Nathan B, and Pfister HW (2002). Pathophysiology of bacterial meningitis: mechanism(s) of neuronal injury. *J Infect Dis* 186, S225–S233.

Sever PS, Dahlöf B, Poulter NR, Wedel H, Beevers G, Caulfield M, Collins R, Kjeldsen SE, Kristinsson A, McInnes GT, Mehlsen J, Nieminen M, O'Brien E, and Ostergren J (2003). Prevention of coronary and stroke events with atorvastatin in hypertensive patients who have average or lower-than-average cholesterol concentrations, in the Anglo-Scandinavian Cardiac Outcomes Trial—Lipid Lowering Arm (ASCOT-LLA): a multicentre randomized controlled trial. *Lancet* 361, 1149–1158.

Shohami E, Shapira Y, Sidi A, and Cotev S (1987). Head injury induces increased prostaglandin synthesis in rat brain. *Cereb Blood Flow Metab* 7, 58–63.

Starling EH (1896). On the absorption of fluids from the connective tissue spaces. *J Physiol* 19, 312–326.

Steyerberg EW, Mushkudiani N, Perel P, Butcher I, Lu J, McHugh GS, Murray GD, Marmarou A, Roberts I, Habbema, JDF and Maas AIR (2008). Predicting outcome after traumatic brain injury: development and international validation of prognostic scores based on admission characteristics. *PLoS Med* 5, e165

Stroop R, Thomale UW, Pauser S, Bernarding J, Vollman W, Wolf KJ, Lanksc WR, and Unterberg AW (1998). Magnetic resonance imaging studies with cluster algorithm for characterization of brain edema after cortical controlled impact injury. *Acta Neurochir Suppl* (Wien) 71, 303–305.

Suarez JI, Shannon L, Zaidat OO, Suri MF, Singh G, Lynch G, Selman WR (2004). Effect of human albumin administration on clinical outcome and hospital cost in patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage. *J Neurosurg* 100, 585–590.

Swartz MN (2004). Bacterial meningitis – a view of the past 90 years. N Engl J Med 351, 1826–1828.

Tanno H, Nockels RP, Pitts LH and Noble LJ (1992). Breakdown of the blood-brain barrier after fluid percussion brain injury in the rat: Part 2: Effect of hypoxia on permeability to plasma proteins. *J Neurotrauma* 9, 335–347.

Tapia-Perez JH, Sanchez-Aguilar M, Torres-Corzo JG, Gordillo-Moscoso A, Martinez-Perez P, Madeville P, de la Cruz-Mendoza E, and Chalita-Williams J (2008). Effect of rosuvastatin on amnesia and disorientation after traumatic brain injury (NCT003229758). *J Neurotrauma* 25, 1011-1017.

Temesvári P, Abrahám CS, Speer CP, Kovács J, and Megyeri P (1993). Escherichia coli 0111 B4 lipopolysaccharide given intracisternally induces blood-brain barrier opening during experimental neonatal meningitis in piglets. *Pediatr Res* 34, 182–186.

Thiel VE and Audus KL (2001). Nitric Oxide and Blood–Brain Barrier Integrity. *Antioxid Redox Signal* 3, 273–278.

Thigpen MC, Whitney CG, Messonnier NE, Zell ER, Lynfield R, Hadler, JL, Harrison LH, Farley MM, Reingold A, Bennett, NM, Craig AS, Scallan E and Schuchat A (2011). Bacterial meningitis in the United States, 1998-2007. *N Engl J Med* 364, 2016–2025.

Thompson HJ, Lifshitz J, Marklund N, Grady MS, Graham DI, Hovda DA, and McIntosh TI (2005). Lateral Fluid Percussion Brain Injury: A 15-Year Review and Evaluation. *J Neurotrauma* 22, 42–75.

Tolias CM, Bullock MR (2004). Critical appraisal of neuroprotection trials in head injury: what have we learned? *NeuroRx* 1, 71–79.

Tomita H, Ito U, Masaka H, Tominaga B (1994). High colloid oncotic therapy for contusional brain oedema. Acta *Neurochir Suppl* 60, 547–549.

Tone O, Ito U, Tomita H, Masaoka H, Tominaga B (1994). High colloid oncotic therapy for brain edema with cerebral hemorrhage. *Acta Neurochir Suppl (Wien)* 60, 568–570.

Tsikas D (2007). Analysis of nitrite and nitrate in biological fluids by assays based on the Griess reaction: Appraisal of the Griess reaction in the l-arginine/nitric oxide area of research. *J Chromatography* 851, 51–70.

Tureen JH, Dworkin RJ, Kennedy SL, Sachdeva M, and Sande MA (1990). Loss of cerebrovascular autoregulation in experimental meningitis in rabbits. *J Clin Invest* 85, 577–581.

Unterberg A, Stover J, Kress B, and Kiening K (2004). Edema and brain trauma. *Neuroscience* 129, 1019–1027.

Uski T, Andersson KE, Brandt L, Edvinsson L, Ljunggren B (1983). Responses of isolated feline and human cerebral arteries to prostacyclin and some of its metabolites. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab* 3, 238–245.

Valeri CR, Cooper AG, and Pivacek LE (1973). Limitations of measuring blood volume with iodinated I 125 serum albumin. *Arch Intern Med.* 132, 534–538.

van de Beek D, de Gans J, Spanjaard L, Weisfelt M, Reitsma JB, and Vermeulen M (2004). Clinical features and prognostic factors in adults with bacterial meningitis. *N Engl J Med* 351, 1849–1859.

van de Beek D, de Gans J, Tunkel AR, and Wijdicks EFM (2006). Community-Acquired Bacterial Meningitis in Adults. *N Engl J Med* 354, 44–53.

Vane JR and Botting RM (1995). Pharmacodynamic profile of prostacyclin. *Am JCardiol* 75, 3A–10A.

Vergouwen MD, Meijers JC, Geskus RB, Coert BA, Horn J, Stroes ES, van der Poll T, Vermeulen M and Roos YB (2009). Biologic effects of simvastatin in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a double-blind, placebo-controlled randomized trial. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 29, 1444–1453.

Wang H, Lynch JR, Song P, Yang HJ, Yates R, Mace B, Warner DS, Guyton JR, Laskowitz DT (2007). Simvastatin and atorvastatin improve behavioral outcome, reduce hippocampal degeneration, and improve cerebral blood flow after experimental traumatic brain injury. *Experimental Neurology* 206, 59–69.

Werner C, Engelhard K. Pathophysiology of traumatic brain injury. (2007). British Journal of Anaesthesia 99, 4–9.

WHO (2012) http://www.who.int/topics/meningitis/en/

Wible EF and Laskowitz DT (2010). Statins in traumatic brain injury. Neurotherapeutics 7, 62-73.

Wilkes MM and Navickis RJ (2001). Patient survival after human albumin administration: a metaanalysis of randomized, controlled trials. *Ann Intern Med* 135, 149–164.

Wintermark M, Fischbein NJ, Smith WS, Ko NU, Quist M, and Dillon WP (2005). Accuracy of dynamic perfusion CT with deconvolution in detecting acute hemispheric stroke. *Am J Neuroradiol* 26, 104–112.

Wispelwey B, Lesse AJ, Hansen EJ, and Scheld WM (1988). Haemophilus influenzae lipopolysaccharide-induced blood brain barrier permeability during experimental meningitis in the rat. *J Clin Invest* 82, 1339–1346.

Zardi EM, Zardi DM, Dobrina A, and Afeltra A (2007). Prostacyclin in sepsis: A systematic review. *Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat* 83, 1–24.

Zhuang J, Shackford SR, Schmoker JD, and Pietropaoli JA Jr (1995). Colloid infusion after brain injury: Effect on intracranial pressure, cerebral blood flow, and oxygen delivery. *Crit Care Med* 23, 140–8.

Zornow MH, Scheller MS, Todd MM, and Moore SS (1988). Acute cerebral effects of isotonic crystalloid and colloid solutions following cryogenic brain injury in the rabbit. *Anesthesiology* 69, 180–184.

Zornow MH, Todd MM and Moore SS (1987), The acute cerebral effects of changes in plasma osmolality and oncotic pressure. *Anesthesiology* 67, 936–941.

Appendix

I Jungner M, Grände P-O, Mattiasson G, Bentzer P (2010). Effects on brain edema of crystalloid and albumin fluid resuscitation after brain trauma and hemorrhage in the rat *Anesthesiology* 112(5):1194–1203.

Editorial comment in: Drummond JC (2010). Colloid Osmotic Pressure and the Formation of Posttraumatic Cerebral Edema. *Anesthesiology* 112, 1079–1081.

II Jungner M, Bentzer P, Grände P-O (2011). Intracranial pressure following resuscitation with albumin or saline in a cat model of meningitis. *Crit Care Med* 39, 135–140.

Editorial comment in: Statler KD (2011). Albumin and brain injury: Time for a new approach? *Crit Care Med* 39, 217–218.

- III Jungner M, Bentzer P, Grände P-O (2009). Prostacyclin reduces elevation of intracranial pressure and plasma volume loss in lipopolysaccharide-induced meningitis in the cat. *J Trauma* 67, 1345–1351.
- **IV** Jungner M, Lundblad C, Bentzer P. Cortical capillary recruitment by rosuvastatin in experimental brain trauma is associated with increased NO production. *Submitted*.
- V Jungner M, Siemund R, Venturoli D, Reinstrup P, Schalén W, Grände P-O, Bentzer P. Blood-brain barrier permeability following traumatic brain injury. *In manuscript*.

Papers I-III and the editorials are reprinted with kind permission of the publishers.